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This, Swan’s 25th Annual Report, is one which we 
believe we will look back on as seminal in our 
history. Its story is one of transition, with Swan  
both celebrating 25 years of successful growth  
and documenting our move forwards into an era  
of delivery of high-quality homes at scale. With 
everything we do underpinned as always by our 
social purpose.  

We have used this anniversary year to not only refresh 
our branding and celebrate the achievements of the 
past 25 years, but also restate our social purpose and 
it’s never been clearer – the Swan Group exists to 
ensure as many people as possible have somewhere to 
feel at home.  

This year we’ve focused on our service to our 
customers. Rather than waiting for the outcome of the 
Social Housing Green paper, our teams are forging 
ahead with new ways of working which will enable us to 
deliver the excellent customer service we know our 
customers expect. The world is changing; our 
customers, of all tenures, are using online services 
providing fast, efficient service. They expect the same 
from us and our new Customer Portal will help us meet 
their high expectations and enable our dedicated staff 
to spend more time dealing with complex issues.  

We’ve retained our Customer Service Excellence 
accreditation for the 10th year in a row and our 
specialist teams continue to support those who need it 
– for example carrying out over 5,000 home visits to 
support those affected by Welfare Reform since 2016 
and securing over £1.6m of additional benefits for our 
customers. We were particularly proud this year, to see 
all three of our foyers securing Foyer Federation 
endorsement for the high standards of support provided 
to the young people they work with.

We’ve continued our investment in improvements to our 
existing stock, ensuring that we are well placed to 
respond to any future changes in decent homes 
legislation, using the 10th anniversary of our long-term 
repairs contract to focus on delivering an even better 
repairs and maintenance service to our customers. 

Chair’s Introduction
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Great strides have been made towards our target to 
deliver 10,000 additional homes by 2027. Whilst 
Cambridge Road and The Paragon were not completed 
as expected by the end of the financial year, as this 
report goes to print hundreds of households are about 
to move into these fantastic shared ownership and 
affordable homes in Barking and Dagenham and 
Redbridge.  

In addition, we’ve met our target to secure an additional 
large-scale regeneration by entering into a 30-year joint 
venture with Southend-on-Sea Borough Council for the 
regeneration of the Queensway Estate in Southend 
which is expected to deliver more than 1,600 new 
homes. We’ve also obtained unanimous planning 
consent for our masterplan for Purfleet on Thames 
which will bring 2,850 homes and a vibrant new town 
centre to Purfleet.  

This takes our secured pipeline of new homes to over 
7,450 homes and builds on our “local partner” 
approach. Our modular housing factory is moving into 
full production with the first modular homes now 
occupied. Our approach to delivering more homes 
achieved national recognition this year, winning us the 
title of “Homebuilder of the Year 2019” (less than 1,000 
homes a year programme) at the UK Housing Awards.

We continue to reinforce our relationships with our 
funders to ensure we are well placed for the coming 
years of delivery at scale. We’ve built on our Strategic 
Partnership with the GLA, securing additional funding 
both for Blackwall Reach and to deliver an additional 
2,000 homes.  We’ve now been appointed as a 
Strategic Partner of Homes England following a joint bid 
with Curo Housing securing over £50m to deliver a 
further 1,000 affordable homes in Essex. We also 
independently secured over £30m of additional Estate 
regeneration funding from Homes England to accelerate 
our regenerations at Beechwood and Laindon Place.  
We’re actively managing risks around delivery at scale 
and are well placed to respond to changes in the 
housing market, Brexit outcomes and funding impact. 

We are working hard to both recruit and retain the best 
employees to help us deliver our vision. We retained 
our Sunday Times Top 100 Best Not for Profit top 35 
employer status, introduced a new People Strategy and 
are transforming the way we work to ensure our 
dedicated staff have the tools, training and are 
empowered to make the biggest impact, every day. Led 
by our Chief Executive John Synnuck, who this year 
has celebrated 50 years of service to the Housing 
sector, they are innovative, enterprising and committed 
to making a difference.   

As we celebrate our 25th anniversary, I am proud of the 
many partnerships we have in place, working 
collaboratively with others to achieve our social purpose 
and I am confident that we are well placed to move into 
the next 25 years of Swan. 

 

Valerie Owen OBE 
Chair – Swan Housing Association Limited 
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2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Income and Expenditure £m £m £m £m £m

Turnover 81.1 91.1 101.6 109.9 82.3

Turnover on general needs housing (excluding lease income) 52.3 50.6 50.5 48.7 45.7

Surplus/(deficit) before tax 9.8 15.6 8.2 10.8 (37.0)

Interest payable 15.4 16.0 16.2 15.7 15.5

Balance Sheet £m £m £m £m £m

Tangible fixed assets – housing properties 741.2 720.8 690.2 703.7 685.3

Investment in new housing properties 34.4 45.6 16.3 18.1 45.0

Expenditure on repairs and maintenance 10.7 10.1 9.4 9.4 8.3

Grants - cash received 59.5 0.4 0.8 3.7 11.7

Banking borrowing (excluding fair value adjustments) 258.9 260.8 230.5 284.3 309.3

Bonds in issue 210.0 210.0 210.0 150.0 150.0

Accommodation (units)

Total social housing stock owned 9,845 9,836 9,802 9,876 9,599

Total social housing stock owned and managed 11,331 11,323 11,293 11,396 11,125

KPI Data

Interest cover 189% 168% 232% 220% 181%

Net debt per unit (£) 47,446 49,587 44,591 47,782 51,418

General needs tenant arrears as % of rent due 1.83% 2.24% 2.37% 2.48% 2.59%

Void turnaround (days) 13.8 13.3 13.6 14.5 17.1

% of all repairs completed on time 99.0% 99.2% 98.9% 98.5% 98.2%

      

Group Consolidated Highlights – 5 Year Summary 
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Principal Activities

The Swan Group (‘Swan’) is headed by Swan Housing 
Association, which this year celebrates its 25th 
anniversary. Since taking circa 2,000 homes in Basildon 
from the Commissioner for New Towns in 1994, we 
have grown to today owning and managing over 11,000 
homes in Essex and East London, with a secured 
development pipeline to over 7,450 homes. Our social 
purpose is providing homes and services for those who 
need them and that translates into our mission to 
ensure that as many people as possible feel that they 
have somewhere to feel at home.

We provide general needs housing services, services to 
our leaseholders, NHS keyworker accommodation, 
supported housing accommodation and care services. 
We also manage properties on behalf of other housing 
providers. We build new homes across a range of 
tenures using traditional and modular housing across a 
range of schemes. All profits made are reinvested in 
new homes and services for our residents to ensure 
that we create sustainable communities where people 
feel at home.

Strategic Report

Business and Financial Review

The Board is reporting an operating surplus of £22.3m 
(2018: £25.3m) and a surplus before tax of £9.8m 
(2018: £15.6m) and total comprehensive income of 
£5.7m (2018: £14.5m) for the year. 

Total comprehensive income has been adversely 
impacted by three material non-cash charges in the 
year. The first is a £2.1m deterioration (2018: £5.0m 
improvement) in the mark to market position of the 
Group’s two non basic financial instruments. The 
second and third are in relation to the mandatory 
transition from defined contribution to defined benefit 
accounting for its SHPS multi-employer pension 
scheme, which has resulted in a £2.2m re-
measurement charge and an actuarial loss of £1.1m in 
the year.

The operating surplus includes another significant 
contribution from our social housing activities of £21.9m 
(2018: £20.7m) whilst our development activities 
delivered an operating surplus of £0.5m (2018: £4.6m). 
The development surplus was lower than anticipated 
due to construction delays at our Cambridge Road (360 
Barking) and Peachy House (The Paragon) 
development schemes. Both of these projects are on 
track to complete in the first half of the new financial 
year.

Turnover at £81.1m (2018: £91.1m) was also impacted 
by the construction delays noted above resulting in 
fewer private and first tranche shared ownership sales 
than last year.

Group reserves increased to £233.8m (2018: £227.1m) 
and our balance sheet remains strong. Interest cover 
and net debt per unit, our key loan covenants, continue 
to meet our lenders’ requirements. 

We continue to perform in the upper quartile when 
benchmarked against our peers in terms of void 
turnaround which was 13.8 days for the year (2018: 
13.3 days). Current tenant arrears have improved in the 
year to 1.83% (2018: 2.24%).
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Creating Communities where people feel at home

At Swan we remain committed to delivering 
regeneration at scale as this enables us to create 
sustainable communities with the infrastructure that 
residents need. This now includes local retail and 
leisure space and community facilities and in our larger 
schemes commercial and office spaces, medical 
centres, even schools and a university campus. The 
aim is always to deliver opportunity through our 
regeneration activity. This year we have secured 
planning on a number of key large-scale schemes 
which we are delivering in partnership including: 

Purfleet on Thames: unanimous outline planning 
consent was granted in April 2019 for the £1.0 billion 
regeneration of Purfleet town centre which will see 
Swan, through our investment in Purfleet Centre 
Regeneration Limited (‘PCRL’), a  joint venture based in 
Thurrock, Essex to build up to 2,850 homes, a new 
town centre located around an upgraded railway station 
and new rail bridge – replacing the existing level 
crossing.  The project will bring a new university 
campus, media village together with waterfront retail 
and leisure, a new primary school, integrated medical 
centre, amenity spaces, environmental improvements 
and bring one kilometre of river frontage into use for the 
community.  Our healthy towns approach will see a 
focus on sustainability and modal shift and transform 
Purfleet bringing not just economic and educational 
benefits but also improving health and wellbeing.   

Strategic Report (cont)

Community and Stakeholder consultation has been key 
throughout this project and this clearly helped secure 
the unanimous planning consent. We were delighted 
that PCRL won the Best Public Participation Award at 
the 14th Annual Brownfield Briefing Awards for our 
approach to working in partnership with the community 
to shape the Purfleet proposals and build support for 
the project, including closely involving the Purfleet 
Community Forum, regularly consulting the wider 
community and establishing a resident-led Purfleet 
Community Design Panel.

Blackhorse Yard: planning consent was granted on 
our first project in the London Borough of Waltham 
Forest this year, a project which we are delivering in 
partnership with Catalyst Housing Limited, in February 
2019. This 100% affordable scheme will transform an 
old industrial estate into a new community with 359 
shared ownership homes and will contribute almost 
3,000 sq. metres (‘GEA’) of retail, artists studios and 
other ancillary uses together with 167 sq. metres 
(‘GEA’) of affordable workspace to the Borough of 
Culture 2019. This scheme was promoted by the Mayor 
of London as his first 100% affordable scheme.  Swan 
secured the scheme jointly with Catalyst through a 
London development panel (‘LDP’) procurement 
process. 
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Better Queensway: We were selected by Southend-
on-Sea Borough Council as their joint venture partner 
for the delivery of the Better Queensway regeneration in 
Southend. Following a 13-month public procurement 
process, we entered into a 30-year joint venture Limited 
Liability Partnership with Southend on 24 April 2019, 
which will see us work together to design, build and 
manage for the long term, a new mixed-use community 
in place of the existing Queensway Estate. The project 
will see the demolition of the four existing towers as well 
as some low-rise housing and its replacement with a 
mixed tenure scheme providing circa 1,600 homes 
(including replacing the 441 existing social and 
leasehold properties), together with retail and 
commercial space and high quality new public realm 
which will transform not only the Queensway Estate but 
also the entrance to Southend from Southend Victoria 
Station. 
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On the ground our large-scale regeneration projects are 
progressing well with all the commercial tenants in the 
Laindon Shopping Centre now vacated, and the first 
phase groundworks progressing well. Demolition of the 
Centre started in Spring 2019. This award-winning 
project will transform Laindon, calming the roads and 
returning a High Street to Laindon. Laindon Place will 
bring new shops including an anchor food store, a new 
health centre, Swan Office and 224 new homes.  
Community engagement has been key throughout, with 
over 2,000 residents taking part in our 22-month “Time 
for Change” campaign, engaging residents, councillors 
and interest groups, using local canvassing, vision 
workshops and press and social media campaigns 
helping us to secure unanimous planning consent. The 
judges, when awarding us the 'Stakeholder 
engagement in planning’ award at the 2018 Planning 
Awards praised Swan’s “investment in effective and 
far-reaching community engagement that built trust and 
positive involvement”.

Strategic Report (cont)
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At Blackwall Reach the new community is about to 
grow from 98 households to almost 350 households as 
Phase 1b completes and hands over mid-2019.  Phase 
1a has already seen residents of Robin Hood Gardens 
move into new affordable homes, along with a regional 
Swan office, a replacement mosque and an extended 
school and The Reach community facility. Through our 
partnership approach with the London Borough of 
Tower Hamlets ('LBTH') and the GLA we are ensuring 
that opportunities are offered not just to the new Swan 
residents in Phase 1a, but all the residents of Robin 
Hood Gardens. See our case study below for more 
details:
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Opportunities for Communities Case Study

Suriya lives in a three bedroom flat at Blackwall Reach 
with her husband and four children. Her family were 
allocated their home nearly 3 ½ years ago and were 
amongst the first residents to move into the block. They 
were previously living in emergency accommodation 
just down the road on Poplar High Street. Her family are 
very happy in their home. She feels that there is enough 
space for everyone. Her home is a safe place where all 
her family spend time together. 

Suriya’s work is community focused and the idea of 
community is very important to her. She is often at The 
Reach, Swan’s Community Centre – she regularly 
attends the Women’s fitness group on a Thursday 
morning and her children attend various clubs.

“The Reach is like our second home, we are there 
five times a week!”

This year over 100 residents have completed training at 
The Reach designed to increase their skills and 
capacity. The Reach is our flagship community facility  
at the centre of our £500m regeneration scheme at 
Blackwall Reach in Tower Hamlets. We have worked 
with partners including New City College, Job Centre 
Plus, Learning Curve, Bromley-by-Bow Centre, JP 
Morgan and Metropolitan Thames Valley as well as 
LBTH to offer a variety of certificated courses including 
Level 3 Certificate in Construction Skills, Childcare 
Level 1 and 2 and English for Speakers of Other 
Languages (ESOL) from The Reach.

50 people have completed the Transfer and Achieve 
programme with more than three quarters of students 
securing work, work placements or enrolled in training 
as a result. Open to all residents in Tower Hamlets, 
funded by JP Morgan and delivered in partnership with 
Metropolitan Thames Valley and Job Centre Plus, 
this bespoke programme builds employability, skills and 
confidence and helps students overcome their 
individual barriers to employment.

Strategic Report (cont)

The Construction Skills programme in partnership 
with New City College saw 8 residents gain the basic 
skills they need to start a career in construction and 
ensured they gained practical experience on our 
Blackwall Reach Phase 1b construction site. After 
achieving a Level 3 Certificate in Construction Skills the 
students are all now receiving further support with their 
training and development needs including advice on 
accessing apprenticeships and local jobs. Tevin, who 
recently graduated said: “I am so grateful that I had 
the chance to do this course. I highly recommend it 
if you are interested in any construction skill - I 
wasn’t expecting to get an apprenticeship when I 
started but the course has opened doors for me and 
allowed me to start a career in the construction 
industry.”
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24 residents from Tower Hamlets completed Childcare 
Level 1 and 2 programmes delivered with Learning 
Curve and are now qualified to work in a childcare 
setting. We hope to work with them in future to set up a 
social enterprise childcare project in Swan’s community 
spaces including The Reach.

The Reach Community Facility offers a range of 
activities for local people daily - from martial arts to 
sewing, study clubs to women’s conversation and chat 
and free private tuition for young people - the Swan 
team have developed a varied programme of activities 
designed to meet the aspirations and needs of local 
residents. The Reach is also used for residents board 
meetings and is available to hire.  

Jules Pipe, Deputy Mayor of London for Planning, 
Regeneration and Skills, said: 

“It’s great news that local residents in Tower 
Hamlets are seeing the real benefits of partnership 
working and gaining the skills that they need to get 
on in work and life through The Reach community 
facility. Construction skills are particularly 
important right now, and initiatives like this chime 
well with what we at City Hall are developing 
through the Mayor’s Construction Academy - 
getting more people trained and into jobs in 
construction.”
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The local Partner

Throughout the year we have focused deepening our 
existing partnerships further as well as entering into 
new ones such as the Queensway joint venture with 
Southend-on-Sea Borough Council on 24 April 2019.   

We were delighted to have been awarded Strategic 
Partnership status by Homes England this year, having 
already been a Strategic Partner of the GLA. Homes 
England strategic partnership was the result of a joint 
bid that we made with Curo, a housing association 
based in Bath, for funding to build over 1,000 affordable 
homes in addition to our existing development plans. An 
allocation of £51.1m was awarded to the Swan/ Curo 
partnership, one of only 23 Strategic Partnerships that 
Homes England have announced to date. Our 
relationship with Homes England has also helped us 
secure a £30m loan from their Estate Regeneration 
fund to help accelerate our Beechwood and Laindon 
Place projects. We are also in talks with Homes 
England regarding Housing Infrastructure Funding for 
our Purfleet on Thames and Queensway projects.

We continue to build on our GLA’s LDP2 framework 
status and were appointed as one of the Mayor of 
London’s new Strategic Partners, securing an additional 
£70m funding to deliver affordable homes in London.  
Swan are now one of fifteen housing associations in 
strategic partnership with the GLA.

At a Borough level we continue to focus our efforts on 
being the best partner we can for the small number of 
Boroughs that we work in. We have secured our first 
large scale regeneration in Southend-on-Sea and are 
on-site on our first development in the London Borough 
of Waltham Forest.   

Our relationship with Basildon Borough Council, as they 
celebrate their 70th birthday and we celebrate our 25th 
anniversary of our formation in the Borough in 1994, 
has ensured that we are able to deliver our most 
innovative projects in Basildon, including our modular 
housing factory and our custom build homes at 
Beechwood.   

Strategic Report (cont)

As we move to the handing over of our latest completed 
developments in Tower Hamlets, Barking and 
Dagenham, Redbridge and Basildon our teams stand 
ready to ensure that these new homes are well 
managed and to support our customers to take root in 
the wider communities in which the new homes are 
situated. 

We continue to support the wider objectives of the 
Boroughs in which we work, particularly around 
economic regeneration and this year have supported 
such initiatives in a range of areas including Thurrock, 
Barking and Dagenham, Tower Hamlets, Newham, 
Basildon and Waltham Forest. 

Delivering services to make people feel at home

As Swan celebrates it’s 25th Anniversary, providing high 
quality services to all our customers remains a central 
aim of our corporate strategy. Our customers are a 
diverse group and we recognise that they want to be 
thought of as “customers” and expect the same high 
standards of service from us as their Landlord, as they 
do from other organisations from whom they receive 
services.  

This year we were delighted to retain our Customer 
Service Excellence accreditation for the 10th year in a 
row, achieving compliance plus in one area. The CSE 
Assessor was “impressed with the clear and well-
defined strategy that guides the scope and direction 
of the Association, the depth and effectiveness of 
its engagement with tenants and residents, the 
determination to provide high quality services, the 
knowledge and customer focus of staff, the 
excellent partnership working and the benefits that 
these bring to the wider communities.”

We continue to focus on Service Improvement initiatives 
across our services. For example, a key area of work 
this year has been on our Repairs Service, as we 
celebrate the 10th Anniversary of our Repairs 
Partnership with Axis Europe, a contract which was 
shortlisted in the national UK Housing Awards 2019 for 
good practice in the sector. We’ve analysed the key 
improvements made as a result of this contract:
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10 Years of Swan / Axis Partnership

• Completed around 250,000 repairs

• Increased performance so 99.0% of repairs 
appointments are made and kept

• Increased repairs fixed on first visit to 96%

• Introduced more flexible appointments including 
Saturday appointments

• Achieved 93% satisfaction with last repair 

• Axis and their staff have volunteered 3,400 hours 
of their time to projects that benefit Swan 
residents

However, focusing on resident feedback we are working 
harder to deal with complex repairs that cannot be fixed 
on a first visit and we’re increasing and speeding up 
communication to keep residents informed about the 
progress of their repair. 
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Looking forward, we are currently enhancing our 
customer service offer to include the following 
services which will ensure we are well placed to 
respond to expected Government focus on customer 
service improvement as a result of the Social Housing 
Green paper (a new deal for social housing) and to 
deliver better services to our customers:

• A CRM system which will record all customer 
interactions and ensure customers receive 
responses within our agreed timescales - the 
system will allow escalation where it appears a 
target is not about to be met. 

• A portal system that will allow residents to interact 
with Swan 24 hours a day for simple processes 
– e.g. rent payments. During staffed hours this will 
also allow for Chat Sessions to undertake more 
complex queries. 

• Mobile technology will allow staff members to work 
in an agile way and provide services in a resident’s 
home – this avoids the need to return to the office 
to complete paperwork for example enabling benefit 
applications to be completed and input online.

The significant project work needed to implement these 
improvements has been ongoing throughout this year 
as part of our wider transformation programme and we 
expect all three projects to be live in 19/20.

Strategic Report (cont)

Operational KPI Performance 

This year we have again maintained strong KPI 
performance across a range of indicators. Overall 
customer satisfaction remains good at 79.8%, our void 
performance continues to be in the top quartile at 13.8  
days and arrears continue to exceed target at 1.83% 
reducing further this year. As mentioned above our 
strategic partnership with Axis continues to perform 
well. 97.8% of repairs were completed on target and 
94.0% of customers were satisfied with their last repair 
in our end of year satisfaction survey.  We invested over 
£3.5m in planned works, ensuring the high quality of our 
homes and on adaptations to help our residents to 
continue to feel “at home” in their home despite 
changing circumstances with their health and mobility.  
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Health and Safety 

Health and safety is of paramount importance to Swan 
and we are committed to ensuring that we appropriately 
deliver all legislative, regulatory and best practice 
requirements. We again finished the year with no gas 
safety certificates outstanding. 

We carry out Fire Risk Assessments (‘FRA’) on an 
annual basis to all properties where there are shared 
communal areas. We also increase this frequency if 
work is being carried out to common parts of a property 
and if any changes or incidents have occurred, to 
ensure that any repairs and installations have not 
altered the fire integrity of the building.   

In 2018, we were required to complete 704 Fire Risk 
Assessments. The majority were the standard annual 
review of an existing FRA, the rest new FRAs for new 
build properties. At the end of 2018 all FRAs had been 
completed on target i.e. within 12 months since the 
previous FRA was carried out and we had provided new 
FRAs for newly constructed properties where required 
prior to and after handover. All high priority items had 
been actioned with no items left overdue.

Our Safety Management System has been nominated 
for the Health, Safety and Environment Programme of 
the Year.

Welfare Reform

Our programme of Welfare Reform support delivered by 
our team of specialist Welfare Benefit and Welfare 
Reform officers has now been running for three years.  
As a result of this investment, our dedicated team have 
completed over 5,000 home visits since 2016 and have 
secured our customers additional benefits including 
discretionary housing payments. Whilst this approach is 
clearly reflected in our low arrears levels, critically it 
supports our customers to feel at home and enables 
them to focus on other important areas of their life.    
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Resident Involvement and Community Development

Our three-year strategy on Resident Involvement and 
Community Development (‘RICD’) has completed this 
year and our evaluation shows that the RICD team has, 
during the three-year life of the strategy from 2016 to 
2019:

• Successfully secured £110,162 of external funding 
to support Community Development delivery 
exceeding the target set in the strategy by £30,162. 

• Provided our Employment and Training 
programmes to 586 individuals with 130 of those 
moving into either employment or further education 
at the end of their courses. 

• Secured £300,000 from the Big Lottery for a 
partnership project with the Bromley-by-Bow 
Centre, Tower Hamlets Homes and St Andrews 
Health Partnership called East Exchange. 

• Supported 160 individuals to complete our digital 
skills programmes.

• Delivered 84 projects aimed at improving the life 
chances of our customers.

• Worked with over 5,498 individuals in total who 
have benefitted from the projects that we have 
delivered. 

Strategic Report (cont)

In 2018/19, 677 residents took part in our resident 
involvement activities and as part of that RICD Strategy 
during 2016- 2019, the RICD team have supported 
residents to influence our services to ensure that we are 
responding to their needs as our customers:

• Our Scrutiny Panel have delivered two scrutiny 
reviews each year and have tackled a range of 
subjects including, Tenancy Fraud and Ground 
Maintenance.

• Three successful Swanfest events have been held 
enabling us to consult with 762 of our residents on 
subject matters that are important to them, such as 
Swan’s digital journey and the development of our 
new RICD strategy to take us to 2022 which is 
called “Count me in”.
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Equality and Diversity

We successfully delivered year one of our Equality 
Scheme 2018-2022 action plan and:

• Developed and delivered a training programme for 
our Board, Committees and Executive to support 
the promotion of Diversity in Leadership;

• Provided mandatory Equality, Diversity and 
Inclusion (‘EDI’) training for 117 new employees as 
part of their induction programme;

• Supported four members of staff to participate as 
mentees in the award-winning Housing Diversity 
Network mentoring scheme;

• Raised awareness of various EDI matters internally 
through our intranet and interactive information 
events for employees and involved residents 
including our annual Diversity Day which this year 
focused mainly on gender and race equality;

• Used the Stonewall Workplace Index to assess our 
progress on LGBT equality and developed a work 
plan which is being delivered;

• Signed the Make a Stand Pledge (launched in June 
2018 by the Domestic Abuse Housing Alliance 
(‘DAHA’) in partnership with the Chartered Institute 
of Housing and Women’s Aid) to show our 
commitment to people experiencing domestic 
abuse and used the DAHA online toolkit to assess 
our current response to domestic abuse and 
develop an action plan which is being delivered.

We also launched our own Inspiring Swan group to 
support our staff and to help address Gender Equality 
issues as set in out in the “Being a brilliant place to 
work” section below.  

We celebrated 10 years of Swan providing ESOL 
(English to Speakers of Other Languages) programs in 
partnership with the Bromley-by-Bow Centre in 2019.  
This year the programme is supporting 30 residents to 
gain the entry level 1 qualification and other life skills to 
support community cohesion. These courses have been 
particularly successful helping residents who apply for 
British citizenship. Over the last decade over 100 
residents have successfully completed ESOL level 1 
with Swan. 

Forest Gate PFI

We have had another successful year delivering the 
Forest Gate PFI contract to the London Borough of 
Newham. Our housing management services for circa 
1,400 homes this year has been delivered to the 
satisfaction of 83% for tenants and 87% leaseholders.  
We continued our Welfare Benefit support to Newham 
residents this year securing additional benefits for 
Forest Gate residents.

Property Management Services

Our team continue to provide the Property Management 
services to Boroughs including London Borough of 
Havering and Thurrock Council, as well as a range of 
private landlords. Our contract to manage Thurrock’s 
regeneration company’s portfolio (Thurrock 
Regeneration Limited) has recently been renewed and 
extended.  
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Building new homes where people can feel at home

2018/19 has seen Swan’s secured development 
programme grow to over 7,400 homes, ensuring we are 
on track to meet our key strategic objective of delivering 
an additional 10,000 homes by 2027. This year has 
seen Swan receive national recognition as Homebuilder 
of the Year (less than 1,000 homes a year programme) 
at the UK Housing Awards 2019 with the judges noting:

Strategic Report (cont)

 “The breadth and scale of its programme is 
outstanding: from new town centres to 27-storey 
cylindrical towers and stylish precision-engineered 
houses built from cross-laminated timber in Swan’s 
own factory. Its impact is maximised through 
in-house expertise that improves quality and 
efficiency while reducing costs. 

Swan’s underlying social ambition “ensuring 
everyone has a place to feel at home” underpins 
everything it does.”

WINNER: SWAN HOUSING ASSOCIATION
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As the financial year ended we were about to complete 
on three of our key projects which will collectively 
deliver over 660 homes:

Blackwall Reach Phase 1b 

This phase delivers an exclusive collection of 242 
apartments, all providing spacious living areas and 
versatile winter gardens. The wider community will 
benefit from a beautiful courtyard square featuring 
boutique shops and cafés. Close to Blackwall DLR 
these homes, the majority of which are private sale, will 
help cross-subsidise the affordable housing across the 
project.

Tenure mix: 242 homes: 200 private sale, 6 shared 
ownership, 36 social rent apartments

Main consultants: 
Architect: bptw architecture 
Engineer: Price & Myers
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360 Barking 

Transforming a long vacant site in Barking Town Centre, 
360 Barking is a central scheme in the Barking Housing 
Zone regeneration. Partnership working is key, with the 
London Borough of Barking and Dagenham (LBBD) and 
the Mayor of London (providing £29.1m Housing Zone 
funding) working with Swan to deliver four interlinked 
residential towers, designed by Studio Egret West and 
built by the NU living team. With the development due 
to complete in 2019 it will deliver 291 residential homes, 
of which 96 will be affordable, with priority for local 
residents.

The scheme will also provide a community asset in the 
form of leisure and creative space curated by LBBD and 
has already been recognised for its design excellence.

Location: London Borough of Barking and Dagenham

Contract duration: 24 months

Tenure mix: 291 homes: 195 private sale apartments 
and 96 shared ownership apartments

Construction method: Concrete frame and unitised 
cladding

Delivery partners: London Borough of Barking and 
Dagenham, the GLA - Grant Funding, the GLA - 
Housing Zone Funding

Main consultants:
Architect: Studio Egret West
Structural & Civil Engineer: Heyne Tillett Steel
MEP: Mendick Waring
Landscape Architect: Standerwick Land Design

Strategic Report (cont)



Swan Housing Association Limited  |  Annual Report and Financial Statements   |  Year ended: 31 March 2019 23



24

The Paragon 

The Paragon is a new development in Ilford, Redbridge, 
that will transform a key location and contribute to the 
exciting regeneration underway across the town centre 
housing zone.

Three residential blocks of 10, 14, and 17 storeys will 
provide 141 new homes, and a separate new retail 
space will be built along Ilford Hill.

The whole scheme, built by the NU living team, is due 
to complete in Summer 2019.

Location: London Borough of Redbridge

Contract duration: 30 months

Tenure mix: 141 homes: 36 affordable rent apartments, 
105 shared ownership apartments and a commercial 
retail unit

Construction method: Concrete frame clad in masonry 
and rain-screen cladding

Development partners: London Borough of Redbridge, 
the GLA - grant funding

Main consultants:
Architect: Hunter and Partners
Civil & Structural Engineer: Building Design Consultants
Services Consultant: AWA Building
 

Strategic Report (cont)

This will see us deliver over 600 homes in the 19/20 
financial year and our sales and marketing and housing 
teams are fully prepared for the hand-over and 
completions of these homes. We have sold over 800 
private and shared ownership properties over the last 
five years and to date 75 – 80% of our properties 
exchange contracts off plan.  

NU living

Phase 1b Blackwall Reach is being delivered by an 
external main contractor but all other schemes in our 
pipeline are now being built by our in-house contractor, 
NU living. The NU living portfolio includes a range of 
projects constructed both traditionally and using 
precision engineered modular housing. 

Our fully vertically integrated construction approach 
allows us to manage construction delivery in-house to 
accelerate start on site through the early involvement of 
the construction team in the design. Excellence in 
Communications and Community / Stakeholder 
engagement allows us to secure planning (our last two 
large scale Essex schemes securing unanimous 
planning consent in Thurrock and Basildon in Council’s 
with a range of political views); in-house project 
management and access to high quality consultants 
through our own and strategic partner’s frameworks 
(including those of the GLA and Homes England’s) 
which reduces procurement time. Management of both 
quality and programme (including all sub-packages 
which are managed in-house) ensures we have greater 
control over both quality and programme. 

Our modular housing factory has continued to precision 
engineer high quality modular homes for Beechwood in 
Essex, with the first shared ownership homes due to be 
occupied in Summer 2019. The factory, which uses 
cross laminated timber (‘CLT’) to build volumetric 
modules (which are fully fitted out with kitchens, 
bathrooms, even floor coverings before leaving the 
factory) has moved into dual shift production and now 
employs more than 50 staff on the factory floor. The 
factory is now in production of our first modular 
apartment scheme, Watts Grove in Tower Hamlets.  
This scheme will be the UK’s first mid-rise, volumetric 
CLT scheme. 
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Our approach to volumetric technology was Highly 
Commended at the Offsite Awards 2019 “Best Use of 
Volumetric Technology” and our online configurator has 
been well received by both buyers of the new homes 
and the wider sector. 

Inside Housing named Andrew Brader, NU living’s Head 
of Sales and Marketing one of their “Tech Leaders” for 
2018 recognising Andrew’s contribution to the 
development of the 3D configurator which offers a 
unique combination of interactivity and accuracy in an 
enjoyable and engaging tool for buyers designing their 
custom homes at Beechwood.  The configurator has 
enabled us to automate parts of the sales process, 
reducing error and manual handling whilst 
complementing the marketing of our bespoke homes 
and give the buyer absolute clarity on their purchase. 

Across our programme we are broadly delivering 50% 
affordable homes, with schemes such as The Paragon, 
Blackhorse Yard and Watts Grove all 100% affordable.  
This delivery of affordable housing is central to our 
approach – where we build for private sale or include 
commercial or other mixed-use elements to our 
schemes, this is to both cross-subsidise our affordable 
housing delivery programme and to ensure we deliver 
mixed tenure, sustainable communities.



26

Supporting people to feel at home

This year has seen us continue to deliver high quality 
support to vulnerable people including young people, 
older people, adults with learning disabilities and those 
needing support to come out of or avoid hospital care. 

The standard of the services provided by our Care and 
Support teams has been recognised this year with all 
three of our foyers securing endorsement from the 
Foyer Federation for the high standards of support 
provided to the young people they work with. 

Sandra Fawcett Executive Director - Operations said: 
"Securing endorsement from the Foyer Federation 
is an amazing result for all three of our Foyers and 
the Young People who use them. Teams have 
worked tremendously hard to show that our young 
people’s services are of a really high quality, and 
help our customers transform their lives and 
become independent young adults who are an 
asset to the communities they move on to. I look 
forward to working with the Foyers over the coming 
year to achieve the Quality Development Plans and 
furthermore securing full accreditation with the 
Foyer Federation moving forward."

Pete Watts, Swan’s Director of Care and Support said: 
“Foyers such as Heather Court are at the frontline 
of delivering support to young people, many of 
whom have a troubled background. We are 

Strategic Report (cont)

delighted to have achieved the FOR Youth 
Accreditation: FOR Youth Accreditation is awarded 
to Foyers who consistently deliver the highest 
levels of support for their young residents and are 
committed to a process of continuous 
improvement.”

Julia Lopez MP said “It was such a pleasure to visit 
the Foyer in Harold Wood this morning, hear about 
this model of housing support for young people 
and meet some of the Heather Court residents. The 
emphasis in all the support offered at the Foyer is 
on responsibility, choice and a focus on each 
individual’s talents, helping young people believe in 
and take charge of their own positive destinies 
rather than to see themselves as hemmed in by 
insurmountable barriers. The young residents I met 
shared with me their aspirations – from starting a 
plumbing business, to becoming a boxing 
champion, trainer or musician – and also had a 
clear sense of what practical steps they needed to 
take to reach their goals. It was a privilege to be in 
their company and they have clearly benefitted from 
the passion and dedication of Nathan and the 
fantastic team that run Heather Court.”

We continue to deliver a range of inter-generation 
projects designed to bring the young people from our 
Foyers together with older customers living in our 
supported schemes. This year projects included a 
refurbishment of the garden at Dobsons House in 
Rayleigh where Charlie, from a Swan Foyer, helped 
staff and residents of Dobsons House replant their 
communal garden. Fruit and vegetables were planted 
and will be tended by the residents of Dobsons over the 
summer, before they are cooked and eaten at a meal to 
which Charlie is invited. These projects help our 
customers get to know one another and to work to their 
strengths – here for example the knowledgeable older 
gardeners sharing their expertise with the young people 
and Swan staff, who undertook the more physical 
labour. The event took place during Mental Health week 
and mental health was openly discussed between the 
generations. 
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Swan Care and Support South underwent a Care 
Quality Commission inspection again this year and 
once again, were rated as good across all five areas.  
This inspection, which takes place at short notice, 
involved interviews with staff, service users and 
relatives, found our service well managed and that our 
staff feel well supported. A family member told the 
inspectors: 

“This is an excellent service. My family has an 
improved quality of life.”

The Swan Care North team continue to provide 
innovative care solutions with a particular focus on 
helping to both avoid hospital admissions and facilitate 
hospital discharge and through their work are now 
supporting over 300 patients a month in north Essex 
attending within 4 hours of the patient leaving hospital.  
Care ranges from 5 days of support on discharge from 
hospital to up to 12 weeks to establish independence.  
All care packages include our handyperson service 
support to provide appropriate aids and adaptations.  
Our innovative Night Owls service also continues to 
provide in community support between 11pm and 7am. 
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Strategic Report (cont)

Telling our story... the facts 

Brand External events 

Awards 

new logo and strapline  

somewhere to feel at home

16
awards entered 

12
awards won / finalist  

UK Housing Awards - Homebuilder of the Year 

Housing Heroes Award - John Synnuck,  
Swan’s Chief Executive - Lifetime Achievement Award

 Industry events and exhibitions 
highlights:
– MIPIM / – LREF 
– NLA - Public Housing 
– Offsite Construction Conference
– Design Quality Conference
–  Inside Housing Customer Experience 

Conference
–  Business Transformation Conference
– Modular Design Guide Launch 
– Blackwall Reach Graduation 
– Swan Charity Football Tournament
– Over 500 visitors to the factory 

4
exhibitions 

42
thought leadership 

new logo and strapline  

new HOME customer magazine

80% 
success rate
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Social media Press 

Websites 

5,605
fans 

130,000
impressions

5,727
likes and comments 

3,227
followers 

108,000
impressions

4,828
likes and comments 

4,184
followers 

56,000
impressions

2,634
likes and comments 

127,792
users 

619,210
page views 

16,854
publications read 

43 external news 
stories issued  

778
coverage 

23,530,000
total reach 
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Strategic Report (cont)

Telling our story... the people 
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‘somewhere to feel at home’
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Being a brilliant place to work

As we ended the financial year the Swan Group team 
comprised exactly 500 employees having grown from 
439 in April 2018. We are working hard to both recruit 
and retain the best employees to help us deliver our 
vision, so we are delighted to have retained our Times 
Top 100 Best Not for Profit top 35 employer status. We 
now have our own Talent Manager in house and are 
focusing on our own direct recruitment activity. This 
year we have introduced a new People Strategy which 
is focusing on four key workstreams as shown in the 
diagram below:

We completed our Target Pay project following a 
comprehensive benchmarking exercise to benchmark 
all roles within the business and are currently 
implementing a review of our pension and benefits 
provision. Other key areas of focus will see a new Well 
Being strategy launched in the coming financial year 
along with two new leadership programmes and a 
refreshed intranet which supports our ability to 
communicate better with our employees. 

We continue to focus on Gender Pay and launched our 
own internal “Inspiring Swan” programme which 
included “Inspirational You” training sessions for our 
female staff, based on Dr Sam Collins’ programme.   

This year our employees completed over 24,000 hours 
of training ensuring that they have the skills they need 
to deliver the best service to our customers. 

Strategic Report (cont)

As an organisation we are moving to be a more “agile” 
workplace and our transformation programme to 
achieve this continued this year:

• Good progress has been made on our ambitious 
plans to ensure our staff have the technology they 
need. The desktop rollout of Windows 10 and MS 
Office 365 has gone well and is currently being 
optimised to improve its resilience away from our 
main offices. This will help staff work in an agile 
way, enabling to take service to our customers 
more easily and to operate in a more efficient way 
out of the office.  

• The large-scale project to improve our customer’s 
experience is also making good progress. Our new 
Housing Management application, Cx, will enable 
us to automate elements of our service offer and 
will be part of the way we deliver cover services in 
the future, allowing our staff additional time to deal 
with complex issues and support needs. The new 
system will for example, enable us to offer an 
innovative new Tenant’s Portal to customers of all 
tenures, enabling residents to engage with Swan 
digitally 24 hours a day. It is expected that Cx will 
be live before the end of the next financial year, with 
the Tenant’s Portal available at the same time.  

• Our ambitions however go beyond core systems 
and the portal as we continue to build capacity to 
deliver a more streamlined development, 
construction and manufacturing workflow and so 
meet our ambitious growth targets. Internally, we 
also have plans to adapt some of our people related 
processes and applications so routine tasks are 
simpler and recruitment and onboarding is 
modernised.
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We continue to move towards a more agile approach 
recognising that this is what many of our employees are 
looking for to enable them to deliver the best possible 
service to residents whilst working in an agile way that 
suits their needs. A pilot in our main Essex office Pilgrim 
House has helped us identify many advantages that a 
non-traditional office space can provide. This pilot 
continues, and we are confident that by the time we 
occupy our Laindon office in 2021, we will have fully 
moved to new ways of working that complements a 
dynamic and fast paced organisation that attracts and 
retains the best people to work with our customers. 

Our Swan team is of course led by our Chief Executive 
John Synnuck, who this year celebrated 50 years in 
housing. One of a range of initiatives John took part in 
this year was the launch of our new Millennial Mentoring 
programme, which enabled John to be mentored by a 
group of Swan’s millennial employees on a range of 
issues including how Swan could be a better employer 
for younger people and how Swan could build the right 
type of homes for this group going forward. Initiatives 
like this demonstrate John’s engagement with staff of all 
levels and along with his innovative approach and long 
service to the sector have helped him to be a finalist in 
the National Housing Heroes awards later in 2019 in the 
“Lifetime Achievement Award” category. 

We continue to focus on Gender Balance as our aim is 
to provide an inclusive and diverse culture in which 
everyone is able to thrive and succeed in their career 
goals and as a result have launched our own internal 
“Inspiring Swan” programme which included 
“Inspirational You” training sessions for our female staff, 
based on Dr Sam Collins’ programme. Women are 
represented at our highest levels, both as members of 
the Board and the Executive Team however we 
acknowledge that women are under-represented 
generally in senior roles. We recognise that meaningful 
and lasting change will only happen over time and only 
with the involvement of the whole organisation.

12 members of staff have completed our Leadership 
programme this year and a further 12 are enrolled on 
the next programme. We currently have 5 apprentices 
in the business and 10 higher apprentices. 

Delivering our social purpose continues to underpin 
everything that we do. We have used our 25th 
Anniversary year to restate that social purpose in a 
simple way – everything that we do, whether it is 
commercial activity or our other work, all is designed to 
ensure as many people as possible have somewhere to 
feel at home. In addition to the care and support, 
community engagement and development, and 
employment and training outlined in other sections of 
this report, our staff have this year taken part in a range 
of activities which have “given back” to the wider 
communities that we work in:

• Oarsome Rowing Challenge

• Warm in Winter Campaign

• Football Tournament - £2,000 raised for new 
projectors at the Foyer

• NU Living 'PPE' to Mozambique 

• Theatre Sponsorship of Stratford East 

• Led by our Diversity Action Forum Swan has 
also launched the Red Box Campaign across all 
offices
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Capital Structure and Treasury Management

The Group’s treasury policy is designed to ensure there 
is sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities as they fall due, 
that our covenants are met, that we achieve a market 
return on surplus funds and that our future funding 
plans fully support our strategic objectives. 

The Group continues to explore new funding 
opportunities to support its commercial activities.

Facilities and Liquidity

As at 31 March 2018 and 2019 the Group had the 
following committed facilities (see also note 29 to the 
financial statements):

Strategic Report (cont)

Source          Facility
                £m

           Drawn 
                 £m 

          Facility 
                 £m 

             Drawn 
                   £m 

RBS facilities 138 93 138 98

Lloyds facilities 140 140 118 113

Santander Loan - - 23 23

Bank Loan Total 278 233 279 234

Bond 250 210 250 210

Bank & Bond Total 528 443 529 444

RBS PFI 40 26 40 28

GLA Loans 79 77 79 35

HCAi Loan 30 10 - -

Total Debt 677 556 648 507
      

2019 2019 2018 2018
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As at 31 March 2019 the Group had committed and 
undrawn facilities comprising £45m of bank revolving 
credit facility (2018: £45m), £40m of bond (2018: 
£40m), £2m of Greater London Authority (GLA) (2018: 
£44m) and £20m Homes England Investment (HCAi), a 
new facility secured in 2019, available for borrowing.  In 
line with our prudent policies on liquidity management, 
these undrawn facilities meet all of the Group’s 
contractually committed developments.

In December 2018, S&P reaffirmed Swan’s A- credit 
rating and updated the outlook to negative based on 
“increased market related activities”.

Interest Rate Risk Management

The Group borrows from two (2018: three) banks at 
floating rates of interest.  Interest rate swaps are used 
to convert most of the floating rates into fixed or RPI 
indexed rates to limit the Group’s exposure to increases 
in interest rates.  

The RBS PFI loan is at a floating rate with a swap that 
fixes the interest rate at 6.21%. 

The Bond and both GLA loans have fixed rates of 
interest. The HCAi loan is linked to the EC Base Rate 
plus a margin of 4%. No swaps have been used to 
convert these rates into a different interest rate basis.

At 31 March 2019, 85% (2018: 85%) of debt - excluding 
the GLA loan in Swan New Homes Limited and the 
HCAi loan in Swan Housing Finance Limited, was fixed 
and 15% (2018: 15%) was floating. Scenario analysis 
has been run to assess the sensitivity of the floating 
debt to movements in interest rates.

If the £25m of drawn Revolving Credit Facility (‘RCF’) at 
the year end is excluded from the above figures, then 
the mix is 90% fixed and 10% floating.

The Group does not have any non-sterling or exchange 
rate exposures. 

The charts below show the split of outstanding debt, 
excluding the GLA and HCAi loans, between variable 
and fixed rates, and of the fixed rates, a further 
breakdown by fix type including and excluding the RCF.

1.  All drawn debt £469m (excluding GLA and 
HCAi loans)

2. Excluding £25m RCF
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Counterparty Risk Management

The Group maintains a formal counterparty policy in 
respect of those institutions where surplus funds may 
be deposited.  Deposits are made either in call 
accounts, or where the notice period is no more than 
one year.  In addition, the credit ratings of institutions 
are regularly reviewed and form part of any investment 
decision. 

Compliance with Loan Covenants

The Group has three key loan covenants:

1. Interest cover which is based on earnings before 
interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and major 
repairs included (EBITDA-MRI).

2. Net debt per unit which is based on those units 
which are owned or managed by Swan Housing 
Association Limited and generate a rental income.

3. Asset cover covenants, which are based on a 
percentage of the asset value for each lender.

Whilst the bank loans have all three of the above 
covenants, the £250m bond, which was issued in March 
2015 has only an asset cover covenant.  

All covenants are monitored monthly and reported to 
our lenders at least quarterly. For the year ended 31 
March 2019 the Group was in compliance with its 
covenants. All sources of finance are secured on 
housing assets.

Treasury Strategy

The Group will continue to look to deliver Value for 
Money savings through prudent cash management 
processes and minimising interest costs where possible 
and in line with Treasury policies.

Strategic Report (cont)

Risk Management

The Group has a well-developed risk management 
system and an embedded culture of risk management.  
The Group’s Risk Management Strategy clearly defines 
its risk appetite and the role of the Board, Audit and 
Risk Committee, Managers and Staff.    

Through risk management the Group:

• embed risk assessment and risk management into 
the culture of the organisation

• carry out risk assessments on all departments and 
significant projects

• monitor the overall impact of risks to ensure that the 
overall level of risk remains within acceptable limits

• minimise losses, injury and damage and reduce the 
cost of risk

• ensure appropriate mitigating actions are taken to 
address identified risks

• review key risks at Board and Audit and Risk 
Committee

• review and report on the effectiveness of risk 
management and our internal controls annually. 
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The Board considers that the key risks we face are as 
follows (including the material direct and indirect risks 
arising from the United Kingdom’s proposed exit from 
the European Union in the latter part of 2019):

Key Risk: Risk Mitigation:

• Significant fall in property prices, a material 
slowdown in the housing market or a significant 
increase in construction costs would have a 
detrimental effect on our business plan due to a 
reduction in the profits from the sale of new homes

• Robust appraisal process and prudent assumptions 
with regards to sales values

• Experienced sales and marketing team
• Regular options appraisals on scheme tenure mix, 

stress testing and scenario planning
• Off plan sales to mitigate sales risk

• Failure to comply with financial and other 
covenants in loan documentation as a result of 
inaccurate cash flow forecasting or other issues 
would have an adverse effect on our business plan

• Well established cash flow forecasting and 
business planning process

• Clear understanding of loan documentation and 
associated covenants

• Effective scenario planning including multi-variance 
analysis

• A fire in one of our properties from ineffective 
management would have a serious detrimental 
reputational and financial effect

• Robust processes and procedures in place with 
regards to managing fire safety

• Regular reporting of fire risks at all levels in the 
organisation

• Government policy with regards to the rents we can 
charge or long periods of low inflation may have an 
adverse effect on our business plan 

• We have modelled the impact of changes in rent 
levels in our business plan and we have put in 
place plans which will substantially mitigate the 
impact of these changes on our business plan

• Further changes to the Government rent policy 
have been modelled in our stress testing of the 
business plan

• Our investment in digital transformation and agile 
working does not deliver anticipated business 
benefits 

• Clear action plan in place that includes budget, 
programme and milestones

• Regular performance reporting and monitoring

• The changes to the benefits system as a result of 
Welfare Reform may have an adverse effect on 
rent arrears

• Detailed action plan in place to address the impact 
of Welfare Reform

• Welfare benefits advisors in post to provide support 
and advice to residents

• Clear understanding of the potential financial 
impact of Welfare Reform 

• The failure of a strategic partner could lead to a 
deterioration in service levels to residents or a 
delay in the delivery of development projects

• Ongoing monitoring and review of the performance 
of strategic partners

• The failure to deliver one of our material 
development schemes on time and to budget could 
have an adverse effect on our business plan

• Robust, externally validated processes and 
procedures for our development activities

• Business planning includes sensitivities around 
increased costs and delays in delivery of material 
schemes

• The pursuit of digital self-service and agile working 
does not deliver significant business improvements

• Robust management of the rollout of digitial self 
service and agile working

• Transparent monitoring and reporting of progress 
against our implementation plan
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Introduction

We have completed the second year of our Corporate 
Strategy which will guide us through to 2022 and will 
prepare us to achieve our exciting and ambitious Vision 
for the following five years to 2027. Our ambition is to 
not just grow our business, but also to tell our story and 
increase our work with our partners to maximise the 
difference we can make so we can achieve our Mission 
of ‘delivering effective services, enterprising solutions 
and exemplary homes and communities’. 

We have a clear Vision of where we want to be by 
2027. It looks like this:

• Turnover of at least £200m
• Generate £250m of gift aid to reinvest in 

services and affordable housing through our 
commercial activity

• Offer a private rented sector product
• Have secured three large scale regeneration 

schemes
• Have an additional 10,000 homes

To deliver our Vision we have set out seven 
transformational actions in our Corporate Strategy:

1. Grow commercial turnover and generate gift aid
2. Be an innovative housing provider
3. Deliver digital self-service internally and 

externally
4. Recruit and retain the best people to deliver our 

activity
5. Provide effective services
6. Use agile working 
7. Tell our story

Value for Money (VfM) 

Our progress in delivering these transformational 
actions is monitored by the Board through a series of 
measurable targets based on outcomes. We have made 
good progress in the delivery of our Corporate Strategy, 
for example, we have secured two large regeneration 
schemes (Purfleet and Better Queensway), enhanced 
our employee offer, made significant steps towards 
delivering our services digitally whilst maintaining a 
strong operational performance. We are also reviewing 
our Corporate Strategy regularly to ensure that it is up 
to date and appropriately reflects the latest threats and 
opportunities facing our business. 

Value for money (VfM) is embedded within the 
transformational actions so, for example, included 
within the transformational action 1 above we have the 
following action:

‘We will develop a private rented sector product which 
can be used on our developments.This model will help 
meet the needs of the increasing number of people who 
are unable or chose not to own their own home, whilst 
being financially robust for the Group’…and clear 
targets so we can measure our success:

‘Minimum of 100 units of PRS in Swan's portfolio of 
properties - Mar 2021

The delivery of our Corporate Strategy will ensure that 
we continue to operate efficiently and effectively.
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The value for money standard 2018

The value for money standard 2018 effective from 1 
April 2018 sets out a revised set of requirements with 
regards to value for money. Registered Provider (RP) 
boards must publish evidence in the statutory accounts 
to enable stakeholders to understand the provider’s 
performance against its own value for money targets 
and any metrics set out by the regulator, and how that 
performance compares to peers and measurable plans 
to address any areas of underperformance, including 
clearly stating any areas where improvements would 
not be appropriate and the rationale for this.  The RP 
must demonstrate: 

• a robust approach to achieving VfM

• regular and appropriate consideration by the Board 
of potential value for money gains

• consideration of value for money across the whole 
business including non-social housing activity

• ensure they have appropriate targets in place for 
measuring performance in achieving VfM in 
delivering their strategic objectives.

This self-assessment provides evidence of our 
achievements in 2018/19 and demonstrates our 
accountability to our residents and stakeholders.

Swan’s value for money strategy 2018 - 2021

For us, VfM means obtaining the best value from 
available resources to allow us to deliver better 
services, more homes and effective communities both 
in terms of quantity and quality and the social value 
provided.

The key elements to our approach are set out in our 
strategy and in summary are to:

• have a clear Corporate Strategy which sets out our 
strategic objectives

• have a framework of strategies, plans, policies, 
processes and procedures that ensure optimal 
benefit is derived from resources and assets

• ensure we invest in the right assets, including 
human resources at the right price

• ensure our services and outputs are customer 
driven and that there is economic, efficient and 
effective delivery

• achieve the right outcomes, including social value 
which is at the heart of everything we do

• reinvest value for money gains so we can achieve 
more

VfM is embedded in Swan Housing Association. The 
Board has overall responsibility for delivering the value 
for money strategy and ensuring its principles are 
applied in the delivery of services, strategic planning 
and investment decisions.  

The Operations Committee agrees and monitors 
operational service reviews to drive continuous 
improvement. Appraisals for the delivery of new homes 
are considered by the Development Committee to 
ensure they align with our Investment Strategy and our 
Corporate Strategy ambitions. The Audit & Risk 
Committee regularly ask our Internal Auditors to review 
our approach to VfM with the most recent audit in 
March 2019 providing ‘substantial assurance’ that VfM 
is embedded in the organisation.

Our customers have a key role in assessing and 
enhancing VfM. The Residents’ Consultative 
Committees review performance on a monthly basis 
and are directly involved in the policy setting process.  
In addition, the Residents’ Scrutiny Panel are able to 
carry out detailed service reviews and provide a 
sounding board for new VfM initiatives and service 
improvement programmes.

VfM is embedded throughout our decision-making 
process, strategies and policies. Our procurement, 
portfolio management, asset management, 
regeneration and development, people, treasury and 
social value and engagement strategies are all key 
parts in our overall approach to achieving VfM.
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Value for Money (cont)

Swan’s approach to delivering value for money

We have developed a VfM framework which is split into 
seven key areas of activity, each providing a structure 
for recording outcomes and testing whether the 
objectives of the strategy are being met.  

Swan’s Group structure

As part of the development of our Corporate Strategy 
we considered the activities we currently undertake and 
those which we may wish to undertake in the future.  
We also reviewed our legal arrangements, governance 
structure and funding arrangements to ensure that they 
delivered VfM and supported our plans. 

We have generated £14.8m of profit from commercial 
activities over the last three years, taking our cumulative 
profit from these activities to £69.7m. This has been 
invested in regeneration projects, the development of 
new homes, maintaining homes, delivering services and 
community projects.

Our business plan forecasts £44.0m of profit from our 
commercial activities over the next three years which 
will increase the cumulative contribution to £113.7m. 
Last year we anticipated that our profit from these 
activities would be £142.1m but this projected figure 
has reduced due to a reduction in sales values across 
the private sales programme of c.£25m. The balance of 
c.£3m is due to changes in start on site dates for future 
schemes.

 

managing our 
finances

planning 
our funding

assessing
comparative

costs and 
performance

maximising 
return on 

assets

effective 
procurement

Improving 
services through 
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and new 
business
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Cumulative Profit from Commercial Activity 

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

£59.5m £65.4m £69.7m

£102.0m £104.1m

£113.7m
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Value for money achievements 

We have a clear Corporate Strategy and a robust 
approach to decision making through our Group 
Investment Framework that allows us to consider VfM 
across the whole business and ensure that we 
understand the risks and rewards of the activities we 
undertake. We have a well-established framework and 
targets, including a balanced scorecard, that allows us 
to monitor and report our performance.  

The year in review has seen further achievements 
against the plans set out last year. A summary of these 
is included in each of the following sections.

Our key focus continues to be understanding our 
performance and costs relative to our peers and the 
sector as a whole.

Assessing comparative costs and performance

We continue to analyse our performance against the 
seven value for money metrics introduced by the 
Regulator of Social Housing (RSH). We have utilised 
the HQN VfM metrics tool, which is based on the RSH’s 
global data set, to benchmark our performance against 
the sector as a whole and a bespoke peer group. Our 
suite of further metrics, which are integral to the delivery 
of our ambitious Corporate Strategy, continue to be 
monitored and we remain a participant in Housemark to 
benchmark our operational and satisfaction 
performance. 
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Value for Money (cont)

Value for money metrics

The table on page 43 contains our performance for the 
last three years and a projection for the next three years 
from our business plan. We have benchmarked our 
results against the overall sector average and a peer 
group of 22 housing associations who are based in the 
East of England and London with between 5,000 and 
20,000 homes. 

The first metric, reinvestment in housing stock held in 
fixed assets, includes spend on new properties and 
works to existing homes. Our performance is below our 
peer group and the sector average mainly due to our 
development programme containing between 50%-60% 
non-social housing units, which are not included in this 
measure. A further consideration is the relative age and 
condition of our stock which consequently requires less 
major repair works than our peers in the sector. Our 
performance and future plans are set out in more detail 
in the ‘maximising our return on assets’ and ‘investment 
in development and new business’ sections below.

The new supply delivered metrics are subject to year 
on year fluctuations. This is driven by our approach, 
particularly on larger regeneration schemes, to build out 
developments in phases over a number of financial 
years, where each phase contains a high percentage of 
one type of social or non-social housing units. 

A number of schemes including Cambridge Road, 
Barking, Peachy House, Ilford, Blackwall Reach Phase 
1b and Beechwood West, Basildon are delivering a mix 
of social and non social units over the next three years 
which is driving the upturn in our new supply delivered 
metrics.

It is important to note that this performance is in line 
with our business plan and is due to the nature and 
timing of the mixed tenure schemes we are committed 
to delivering. Further details on our plans for new 
homes are included in the 'new homes pipeline metric' 
and the ‘investment in development and new business’ 
section below. 

We recognise that our gearing ratio is higher than our 
peers and the sector average. The increase over the 
last three years is attributable to the GLA loans for 
Blackwall Reach and Cambridge Road. However, we 
are comfortable with our level of debt and we regularly 
stress test our business plan to ensure we have 
sufficient resilience to adverse changes in the economic 
climate and that our key loan covenants of interest 
cover and debt per unit are not compromised. Our level 
of gearing, which is projected to decrease over the next 
three years, sees us striving to fully utilise our asset 
base, in a controlled and monitored way, to deliver our 
ambitious plans to increase housing supply as set out in 
our Corporate Strategy.

Our EBITDA MRI Interest Cover is broadly in line with 
our peers although below our peer group and the sector 
average this year. However, as noted above our results 
will fluctuate year to year in line with the volume and 
profitability of non-social housing unit sales. The 
decrease in the current year and the increase next year 
is due to the timing of shared ownership and private 
sales at Cambridge Road and Peachy House. We are 
content that our underlying performance is strong and 
demonstrates our efficiency and effectiveness in 
delivering robust financial results.
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March 
2017

March 
2018

March 
2019

March 
2020

March 
2021

March 
2022

HQN
(Peer)*
March 

2018 

RSH 
(Sector)**

March 
2018

1. Reinvestment % 2.4% 6.3% 4.6% 3.7% 4.6% 2.7% 7.7% 6.0%

2A. 
New supply delivered 
(Social housing units) 
%

0.1% 0.2% 0.2% 3.3% 1.7% 1.2% 2.1% 1.2%

2B.
New supply delivered 
(non-social housing 
units) %

1.3% 0.5% 0.2% 4.3% 1.9% 2.6% 0.3% 0.0%

3. Gearing % 62.6% 68.4% 71.4% 65.0% 65.1% 50.3% 49.3% 42.9%

4. EBITDA MRI Interest 
Cover %

179.0% 146.3% 124.7% 254.8% 130.8% 181.4% 170.6% 206.0%

5. Headline social 
housing cost per unit

£4,633 £4,773 £4,989 £4,788 £4,872 £4,900 £4,421 £3,397

6A. 
Operating Margin 
(social housing 
lettings) %

51.1% 44.4% 47.0% 45.2% 46.2% 46.8% 34.1% 32.1%

6B. Operating margin 
(overall) %

28.4% 27.7% 27.5% 18.6% 18.3% 17.7% 30.7% 28.9%

7. Return on capital 
employed %

3.6% 3.0% 2.7% 5.5% 2.4% 3.7% 4.2% 4.1%

* Peer group figures are aggregated and the metrics are calculated using the total figures 

**  RSH sector figures use median values as there are extreme outliers in the Global data - the median for 
each metric is the middle value in the dataset 

Value for Money Metrics
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Value for Money (cont)

Our headline social housing cost per unit is higher 
than our peers and the sector average. This is largely 
due to the calculation including costs and units 
attributable to our PFI contract where we manage over 
1,300 homes for the London Borough of Newham. If the 
PFI is excluded from this metric in the current financial 
year, our cost per unit reduces to £4,666, which is 
comparable to our peer group average. We are seeking 
to further improve this measure by maintaining a control 
over costs through our rigorous budgeting and business 
planning process.

As well as the PFI, our group cost base also includes 
expenditure which supports the development of social 
and non-social housing units and property 
management. Whilst these activities generate a 
financial contribution to the business and consume 
resources, they are not related to the number of units in 
the cost per unit calculation. Total turnover for 2018/19 
was £81.1m, of which just £61.5m was generated by 
social housing units.

Our social housing lettings operating margin is 
better than our peers and the sector. Whilst an element 
of this performance is influenced by differing cost 
allocation methods our repairs and maintenance 
budgets are tightly controlled whilst at the same time we 
strive to maintain all our stock over and above the 
Decent Homes Standard. The slight decreases in March 
2018 and 2020 are due to provisions taken to replace 
the Aluminium Composite Material (ACM) on two of our 
developments, if this is excluded our performance 
remains consistent and we intend to maintain our 
operating margin by continuing to control our cost base.

The overall operating margin is near to  the median 
figure for the sector and slightly below our peer group. 
As noted before our margins fluctuate year on year due 
to our development programme. Over the next three 
years our overall margin % decreases due to the 
volume of private and shared ownership sales which 
are forecast at a lower margin compared to the returns 
generated from social housing lettings. This also 
impacts our return on capital employed metric which 
is broadly in line with our peer group and the sector 
average. This fluctuation is expected and is in line with 
our development programme and our business plan.

The ‘managing our finances’ section on page 50 
provides further detail on the proactive steps we have 
taken to flex our cost base to mitigate the rent 
reductions and optimise our financial performance.
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Other key metrics to support the delivery of our Corporate Strategy

New homes pipeline

Our pipeline of new homes is a key metric when monitoring our current Corporate Strategy which set a target of 
2,000 new homes between 2017 and 2022 and our vision to have an additional 10,000 homes by 2027.

As at March 2019 we had 1,474 units on-site and in progress and our committed pipeline of new homes is 1,658 of 
which 732 will be social housing units. We are on track to deliver the 2,000 units by 2022, in fact, when our 
uncommitted, joint venture and pipeline schemes are taken into account we have 7,450 units in our pipeline.

Cumulative profits from commercial activities

The profits from our commercial activities are all reinvested and represent a key source of finance to deliver our 
plans. As noted above we have generated £69.7 million from our commercial activities to date and a further £44.4 
million is forecast over the next three years.  

Key loan covenants - debt per unit and interest cover

Our debt per unit and interest cover covenants are key to our business planning. Our current and planned covenant 
levels based on our committed development schemes demonstrate a minimum headroom of c. £100m against our 
most restrictive covenant.

Committed Uncommitted Joint Venture Pipeline Total 

Social housing 193 153 300 314 960

Shared ownership 539 45 550 565 1,699

Non-social housing 926 241 1,916 1,708 4,791

1,658 439 2,766 2,587 7,450
      

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Cumulative Gift Aid £m 59.5 65.4 69.7 102.0 104.1 113.7
      

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Interest cover  
(minimum 110%) 

232% 168% 189% 455% 203% 283%

Debt per unit  
(maximum £55,000) 

44,591 49,587 47,446 43,195 44,716 43,256
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Value for Money (cont)

Customer Satisfaction

We continued to use Housemark to benchmark our 
performance against other housing providers, so we 
can see how our performance compares, identify areas 
for improvement and set future targets. 

We extended our peer group in 2017/18 to include 
organisations from the South East whilst retaining the 
London and Eastern regions. Stock size in the peer 
group remains the same as previous years, between 
5,000 and 15,000 units. This change increased our 
group to a maximum of 39 organisations, however not 
all participants submit data for all the metrics we 
analyse.

The table below sets out our key satisfaction indicators 
for the three years ended 31 March 2018 compared to 
this peer group (the top quartile reference relates to 
2017/18):

Our Corporate Strategy sets out an ambition to provide 
effective services and customer satisfaction remains a 
key measurement to achieve this. We are aware that 
performance has reduced slightly compared to our peer 
group, but we have a clear service improvement plan in 
place with a range of initiatives to achieve this. This 
plan will be monitored regularly and performance 
overseen by Operations Committee and the Board. 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 Top Quartile
Performance



Swan Housing Association Limited | Year ended: 31 March 2019 47

Operational – Arrears and Voids  

The table below sets out our key arrears and voids 
operational indicators for the three years ended 31 
March 2018 compared to our Housemark peer group 
(the top quartile reference relates to 2017/18):

Our performance is consistently strong compared to our 
peers. Our rent collection and arrears have shown year 
on year improvements and we continue to invest in this 
area to mitigate the impact of welfare reforms including 
Universal Credit. In the current financial year our 
arrears have improved to 1.83% which is just outside 
Q1 based on the 2017/18 top quartile benchmark.

Our voids performance for vacant properties and relet 
times are both quartile 1. Our operational relet 
performance has shown significant improvements over 
the last three years as we strive to work closely with 
local authority partners to reduce waiting lists.

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 Top Quartile
Performance
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Value for Money (cont)

Employee engagement – Sunday Times Top 100

We recognise that retaining and recruiting the best staff 
is crucial for us to deliver our Corporate Strategy. We 
continue to invest in training, including two new 
leadership programmes, and have implemented a 
target pay model following a full benchmarking 
exercise. We have also launched a new People 
Strategy during the year.

We measure the engagement of our staff through the 
Sunday Times Top 100 best not for profit companies to 
work for. We were delighted to retain our top 35 status 
this year.

During the next year we will continue to benchmark our 
performance against our peers, complete service 
reviews on customer facing services as part of the 
Civica CX and customer portal project, monitor 
customer feedback on how easy they find it to do 
business with us, including the use of new digital 
channels and seek to maintain our performance where 
we continue to outperform the majority of our peers.

Maximising our return on assets

Three strategies; the Asset Management Strategy, the 
Portfolio Management Strategy and the Group 
Investment Framework remain key to how we approach 
managing our stock and maximising the return on the 
properties we own as follows:

• our Asset Management Strategy sets out how we 
will maintain and improve our existing housing stock 
over the next five years to ensure that they are 
safe, free from hazard and of a high standard 

• stock condition surveys ensure that our integrated 
asset management database, Keystone, is up to 
date so we can target our investment spend

• we measure the ‘return on assets’ from our existing 
housing stock at a headline level and at the level of 
individual property as one way of assessing the 
current financial performance of our housing stock.    

The table below sets out the return achieved on our 
main stock types, all of which are in line with 
expectation. Our base rental income has fallen due to 
the rent reduction of 1% that was introduced in the 
Government's July 2015 budget. The prior year General 
Needs surplus is net of a £3.2m provision to replace the 
cladding on two schemes containing Aluminium 
Composite Material (ACM). A further £0.2m provision 
has been taken for ACM this financial year. 

2018/19 2017/18

Operating 
Surplus

Value of 
Assets*

Return on 
Assets* 

Operating 
Surplus

Value of 
Assets*

Return on 
Assets* 

£k £k £k £k

General Needs 26,132 580,393 4.5% 24,127 575,862 4.2%

Shared Ownership 1,171 50,442 2.3% 1,099 52,148 2.1%

NHS Keyworker 1,608 44,274 3.6% 1,170 45,912 2.5%
      

Return on Assets 

*  Value of Assets based on UK GAAP including FRS102 net book value which is cost less depreciation and 
excluding grant received 
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• our Portfolio Management Strategy provides a 
framework within which decisions can be made on 
stock rationalisation, during the year we disposed of 
10 units in North Essex with further sales planned 
here in the year ahead.  

• We use Savills’ Asset Project Evaluation Model 
(APEM) to appraise our housing stock so we can 
understand the net present value (NPV) for each of 
our properties and make informed decisions about 
whether to dispose, swap, or change tenure type.

During the next year we also intend to continue our 
programme to maintain 100% decent homes.

Effective procurement

Our Procurement Strategy ensures that we deliver VfM 
as follows:

• by following our procurement programme we 
ensure that the services we procure are economic, 
efficient and effective

• all standard repairs and maintenance to our 
housing stock is delivered by Axis Europe under a 
long term partnership which allows for longer term 
service planning and a commitment to continuous 
improvement in both service delivery and efficiency. 

During the year our procurement activity has focused 
on the following areas:

• a consultant’s framework for our construction 
supply chain and legal services which has resulted 
in the implementation of an e-tender portal as part 
of our transition to a dynamic purchasing solution

• re-procurement of our maintenance contract for 
combined heat and power (CHP) systems, saving 
c.£25k per annum

• a review of our supply chain for lift maintenance, 
saving c.£20k per annum.

In 2019/20 we plan to:

• procure new purchase to pay, construction and 
manufacturing software

• re-procure the following services targeting value for 
money savings where possible:

• office cleaning
• corporate workwear
• recruitment services.
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Value for Money (cont)

Managing our finances

We have the following processes in place to manage 
our finances:

• a zero-based approach to budget setting, so we 
ensure our spending plans for the year ahead are 
aligned to our corporate strategy and operational 
plans  

• performance against budget is reviewed monthly 
with budget holders ensuring robust financial 
control

• performance reports and balance scorecards for 
each of our key activities covering a variety of 
financial and non-financial key performance 
indicators

• value for money is embedded across the 
organisation. This allowed us to respond positively 
to mitigate the impact of the 1% rent reduction and 
the ongoing roll-out of Universal Credit.

The £1.25m of cost savings delivered in 2016/17 and 
maintained in 2017/18 have continued in 2018/19. 

We also secured a further £2.8m of savings towards the 
£10m of efficiencies targeted from our development and 
regeneration activities taking the cumulative savings in 
this area to £7.9m which leaves £2.1m to deliver the 
£10m target by 2020/21.

The £2.8m of savings secured in 2018/19 are 
summarised by project below:

£10m Capital Challenge - Cumulative Savings Secured from 2016/17 to 2018/19 

During the next year we will maintain the £1m operational savings and realise further savings to maintain our 
progress towards achieving the target of £10m of savings / additional income from our development and regeneration 
activities so we can continue to mitigate the impact of the 1% rent reduction.  
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Planning our funding

Our Treasury Strategy, Group Investment Strategy and 
Business Planning process ensures that:

• we have a standardised approach to appraising 
projects across the Group, so projects can be 
appraised and on a consistent basis

• we understand our future funding requirements, so 
we can allocate resources to deliver our Corporate 
Strategy as effectively as possible by minimising 
borrowing costs and our exposure to the risks of 
refinancing and interest rate rises 

• through scenario testing we understand the risks 
we are exposed to across the Group and have 
plans in place to mitigate the impact should those 
risks materialise

• we can generate new resources from our 
commercial businesses to reinvest in our housing 
stock, new homes and the services we provide

• we have performance reports and balance 
scorecards for each of our key activities covering a 
variety of key performance indicators.

During the year we have:

• Restructured part of our bank loan facilities 
resulting in the number of lenders reducing from 
three to two whilst maintaining the overall facilities 
available

• Secured a £30m project facility from Homes 
England for our Beechwood and Laindon Place 
projects.
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Investment in development and new business

We see investment in our development and new 
business activities as a key part of our Corporate 
Strategy.  Through this activity we can meet unmet 
housing need across all tenure types and generate 
additional resources to support our ambitions. 

During the last year we:

• secured a further £59.9m of grant funding and 
generated £4.3m of profit from our commercial 
activities

• invested over £100m in development and 
regeneration activities, handing over 23 new 
affordable homes and 15 for private sale

• produced modules from our off-site manufacturing 
facility to construct 22 new homes at Beechwood 
Village, Basildon

• procured the majority of our new build construction 
work through an in-house construction 
management service, resulting in lower build costs 
as main contractors’ overheads and profits are 
avoided and early stage input to design helps 
eliminate construction inefficiencies

• secured pre-sales of circa 80% (exchanged and 
reserved) across all schemes where sales have 
been launched

• completed the Repton Court scheme.

Value for Money (cont)

Our development programme, specifically the private 
sales of new build homes, generates profits which are 
transferred to Swan Housing Association via gift aid.  
These resources are reinvested in the provision of new 
homes and ensure that our development programme is 
sustainable.

During the next year we will generate £32m from our 
commercial activities, invest £117m on our development 
and regeneration activities, build 243 shared ownership, 
88 affordable and 441 private sale homes and start 
on-site on Blackhorse Yard, Waltham Forest and the 
Station Block, Laindon. Our latest business plan, which 
has been stress tested against scenarios such as a 
significant reductions in sales values and a slowdown in 
the housing market, demonstrates a reduced exposure 
to the housing market and the related private sales risks 
over the coming years. This is due to the high level of 
pre-sales noted above and significant increase in the 
proportion of affordable housing units in our pipeline 
which has been facilitated by securing strategic 
partnerships with both Homes England and the GLA.
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Improving our services through resident and 
service user involvement

Our customers are at the heart of everything we do.  
Our Social Value and Engagement Strategy sets out 
our commitment to resident involvement, developing 
sustainable communities and meeting our Corporate 
Social Responsibility (CSR objectives). This strategy 
and our performance improvement framework ensures 
that we:

• understand our customer priorities and involve them 
in the decision making process 

• provide a range of community development 
activities to help break down and remove barriers to 
effective engagement

• have detailed review of services and a process 
through our London and Essex Resident 
Consultative Committees (RCCs) for residents to 
set priorities, challenge performance and participate 
in decision making

• help individuals to access employment 
opportunities, training and financial support to 
mitigate the impact of welfare reform

• test the social return on investment (SROI) for our 
community development activity

• have a framework for continual service 
improvement

During the year:

• we reviewed our income collection service and how 
our customers communicate with us

• our ‘Big Say’ survey led to changes in our tenant 
publication ‘The Communicator’ and a review of our 
residents' role in monitoring our repairs and 
maintainance service

• retained our Customer Service Excellence 
accreditation

• our Resident Scrutiny Panel reviewed our services 
relating to anti-social behaviour and considered the 
Swan website and information for customers. 

During the next year we intend to:

• continue to remodel our front line services as part of 
the implementation of Civica CX and the new 
customer portal

• help our customers migrate to our new delivery 
channels and monitor their feedback on how easy 
they find it to do business with us
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Conclusion 

We understand that value for money should be 
considered in the context of meeting an organisation’s 
objectives. As such the Group is purposely structured to 
best deliver our mission “to deliver effective services, 
enterprising solutions and exemplary homes and 
communities”.

We have a clear set of strategic objectives as set out in 
our Vision and Corporate Strategy. These objectives 
inform our operational plans, decision making 
processes and our strategy and policy framework.  

We have a robust approach to decision making as set 
out in our Group Investment Strategy which we apply to 
all of our activities and allows us to compare risk and 
return. We monitor our performance through action 
plans, monthly reports, balanced scorecards and key 
performance indicators. This ensures that VfM is 
embedded throughout our operational activity and 
decision making processes. We regularly compare our 
costs and performance against others to identify where 
efficiencies could be found, or services improved.

Customers have a key role to play in this process. The 
feedback they provide, and formal engagement at 
Board level and through the Scrutiny Panel and 
Resident Consultative Committees, helps to set our 
priorities.

Our commercial subsidiaries gift aid profits to the 
housing association. In doing so they help to support 
value added services that might not otherwise be 
delivered, at the same time as increasing affordable 
housing and regenerating communities.

We have a detailed understanding of the financial and 
social returns on the Group’s assets and assess the 
financial performance and sustainability of housing 
stock so that alternative delivery options that potentially 
offer better value can be considered.

Swan’s financial performance is sound and the Group 
take a prudent approach to managing finances and 
planning funding. 

We have responded positively to changes in the 
operating environment, delivering the savings identified 
and targeted to mitigate the impact of these changes.  
We have a robust business plan that demonstrates a 
high degree of resilience against the key risks that we 
face. There is headroom and capacity in our business 
plan that will allow us to continue to deliver our 
ambitious plans as detailed in our Corporate Strategy.   

As a consequence of the evidence set out in this 
section Swan’s Board believes it fulfils the 
requirements of the Regulator of Social Housing's 
2018 Value for Money Standard.

Value for Money (cont)
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Corporate Governance

At the end of the financial year, the Parent Board 
(Board) comprised eight members, six of whom are 
Non-Executive Board Members and the balance Swan 
Executive Directors.

In accordance with the requirements of the Governance 
and Financial Viability Standard, the Association is 
required to adopt and comply with an appropriate code 
of governance. Swan has adopted the sector specific 
National Housing Federation’s 2015 Governance Code: 
Promoting Board Excellence for Housing Associations 
and the National Housing Federation’s 2012 Code of 
Conduct. The Association has not identified any areas 
of non-compliance for the financial year.

In accordance with the underlying “comply or explain” 
principle of such codes, this section of the report seeks 
to provide detail about:

• The Board and its Role
• Board Effectiveness
• Relations with Stakeholders
• How the Board Operates

The Board is committed to adherence to such codes 
and to high standards of conduct. Following its regular 
review, it can again report compliance with the codes 
during the year. 

The Board and its Role

Swan Housing Association Limited is a Registered 
Society under the Co-operative and Community Benefit 
Societies Act 2014. The Rules of the Association, 
remain its principal document of constitution and 
regulate various matters including the Board, its powers 
and its role. The Board has adopted Standing Orders, 
Scheme of Delegations and Financial Regulations and 
has in place Committee Terms of Reference and an 
intra-Group agreement to further formalise and regulate 
matters between the Parent, and the Group’s 
Committees and subsidiaries. These documents are 
subject to regular review and updated upon relevant 
regulatory or legislative changes. Swan Housing 
Association Limited and its largest commercial 

subsidiary, Swan New Homes Limited operate an 
‘overlapped’ board structure which is intended to best 
integrate the Group’s governance arrangements. Its 
main purpose is to ensure that decision making is as 
cohesive, efficient and effective as it can be and ensure 
that the Group can best operate with a shared purpose 
and vision, with parent oversight at all times. Both 
Boards have an independent Board Member, who can 
only sit on one Board, this is to ensure independence 
on the overlapped Board structure. 

The Board's role is to provide strategic direction and to 
govern, control and scrutinise the Association’s and the 
Group’s operations. Changes in Board membership 
during the year are detailed on page 3 of these 
Financial Statements. During the financial year, and as 
part of the Board refresh process, the Group recruited 
two new Members, namely Elizabeth Sipiere and Devan 
Bala, to strengthen the Board in the areas of digital 
transformation strategy and finance respectively. Both 
were appointed as co-optees from 11 September 2018 
and formally appointed to the Board from 1 January 
2019. Sheila Lewis retired from her position as Swan 
Housing Association Limited’s Independent Board 
Member on 31 December 2018. Sukvhinder Kaur-
Stubbs, Chair of Swan New Homes Limited’s Board 
also retired on 31 December 2018. On 31 December 
2018 Simon Harden resigned from the Board of Swan 
Housing Association Limited and on 1 January 2019 
became the Chair of Swan New Homes Limited’s 
Board.

The Board and its Committees comprise members from 
a diverse range of backgrounds and with the range of 
skills, knowledge and experiences appropriate for their 
needs.  Membership of the Board and its mix of skills, 
knowledge and experience remains appropriate for the 
Group’s needs. Profiles of the non-executive Board 
members can be viewed on Swan Housing Association 
Limited’s website (www.swan.org.uk).  

Board membership is usually for two three-year terms 
with a further three-year extension possible only in 
exceptional circumstances.  

Report of the Board
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Board members have formal service agreements, are 
expected to devote the necessary time to prepare for 
and attend all Board meetings and the meetings of 
those Committees of which they are members, together 
with appropriate training, appraisal and other review 
meetings. Members are paid as detailed in the Board 
Remuneration section. 

The Group maintains directors’ and officers’ liability 
insurance for its Board members, Committee members  
and officers, which is renewed annually. The Board is 
given access to independent professional advice at the 
Group’s expense when the Board so requires.

Board Effectiveness

The Board receives regular updates on the performance 
of the Group’s businesses, the legal and the regulatory 
environments in which they operate and developments 
in their sectors through briefings included in Board 
papers or other presentations.

The Board completed its annual review of combined 
and individual member performance during the year. 
The outcomes from this process have been captured on 
the Board’s governance plan. Progress will be closely 
monitored by the Board. The Board from time to time 
gathers together for training and development activity 
and to consider wider issues such as succession 
planning. Individual members may undertake training or 
development activity as identified by them or in their 
annual evaluations.  

The Board tours locations of the Group, enabling it to 
meet tenants and other service users, at least annually, 
and any new Board or Committee members have 
already undertaken, or will be undertaking, this tour as 
part of their induction process.

Relations with Stakeholders

The principal stakeholders of the Group are its tenants, 
service users, employees, local authorities, the Greater 
London Authority, the Regulator of Social Housing in 
respect of its regulatory activity, Homes England in 
respect of its investment activity and funders. Tenants 
are now represented through the Board’s Operations 

Committee, the responsibilities of which are detailed 
below in the section ‘How the Board Operates’. The 
operations of the Association are regulated primarily by 
the Regulator of Social Housing, but also in part by the 
Care Quality Commission, and the Board pays 
particular interest to regulatory reporting. As noted 
above, occasionally the Board has the opportunity to 
meet tenants and service users and obtains feedback 
from various tenant facing bodies including the resident 
scrutiny panel, which is not a Committee of the Board. 

Relations with employees are managed through the 
Executive Directors and through an Employee 
Representative Committee. Relations with funders are 
also primarily managed through the Executive Directors. 

How the Board Operates 

The Board’s Standing Orders, Scheme of Delegations, 
Code of Conduct and Financial Regulations codify 
various matters for the better operation of the Group’s 
business and within which it expressly reserves 
specified significant matters for its sole decision. The 
Board meets regularly and has established a number of 
Committees to which the Board has delegated certain 
responsibilities under formal Terms of Reference. The 
Board also meets with the Executive Directors regularly 
during the year.

The Board has continued to meet bi-monthly during the 
year. The Committees, other than the Remuneration 
and Appointments Committee, have also met four or 
five times each. The meetings held during the year and 
the attendance of individual members at each is 
detailed on page 57. Each entry is displayed as a 
fraction, which has the number of meetings actually 
attended as the numerator and the number of meetings 
held and which could have been attended as the 
denominator. Board and Committee members have 
online access to all papers for the appropriate meetings 
and hence can access them even if they have made 
notification that they are unable to attend. Membership 
of Committees will continue to be reviewed and 
determined annually by the Board of Swan Housing 
Association Limited, as Parent. Committee 
appointments involve non-Board members. 

Report of the Board (cont)
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Valerie Owen OBE (Swan HA Chair) 6/7 1/1

Sheila Lewis (retired 31/12/18) 4/5 2/4 5/5 3/4 1/1

Peter Baynham (Vice Chair) 6/7 5/5 1/1

Marie Li Mow Ching 7/7 5/5 1/1

John Synnuck 7/7

Jamie Smith 7/7

Steve Akeju 7/7 4/4 1/1

Simon Harden (resigned 31/12/18) 6/6 4/4 1/1

Elizabeth Sipiere (appointed as Board Co-optee 
11/09/18 and appointed Board Member 01/01/2019)

4/4 2/2

Devan Bala (appointed as Board Co-optee 11/09/18 
and appointed Swan HA Board Member 01/01/2019) 

4/4 1/1

Committee members who are not Board members:

Glyn Kyle 5/5

Peter Brooks 5/5

Darren Coan 4/5

Michelle Richards 4/5

Gideon Amos (retired 18/06/18) 1/1

Ralph Luck 2/4

Aleksandra Morshed 4/5

Doug McCann 4/5

Kobirul Islam 5/5

Hugh Titcomb 4/5

Simon Hardwick 2/4

Sukhvinder Kaur-Stubbs (resigned 31/12/18) 4/5 0/1 3/4 1/1
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A brief overview of the constitution of the Committees is 
given below. Other panels and working groups are 
formed as considered appropriate to deal with particular 
issues as they arise.

Audit and Risk Committee

The Audit and Risk Committee consists of four 
members, two of whom are Board members, currently 
Peter Baynham (Chair) and Devan Bala and two 
independent members, Hugh Titcomb and Doug 
McCann. It plans to meet at least four times per year.  It 
receives reports from the external and internal auditors 
and reviews the processes for audit and risk 
management. The Committee is chaired by a member 
of the Board, who is not the Chair of the Board of Swan 
Housing Association Limited.

Remuneration and Appointments Committee

Until 12 July 2018 this Committee comprised all the 
non-executive Board members of Swan Housing 
Association. Following a review of the Committee’s 
Terms of Reference, it was agreed that membership of 
the Committee from 12 July 2018 would comprise the 
Vice Chair (as Committee Chair), the Board Chair and 
other Board Members of Swan Housing Association 
Board who are not Chairs of any other Committee. 
Current members of the Committee are Peter Baynham 
(Chair), Valerie Owen, Elizabeth Sipiere and Devan 
Bala.

It continues to meet at least annually and considers 
Board structure and appointments, the working 
arrangements and remuneration of the Board, Chief 
Executive and Executive Directors. The Committee is 
chaired by a member of the Board who is not the Chair 
of the Board of Swan Housing Association.

Operations Committee

The Operations Committee focuses on all aspects of 
the effective and efficient operational delivery of the 
Group’s services, ensuring feedback from tenants and 
other service users and promoting high standards. The 
Committee comprises eight members, two from the 
main Board, currently Marie Li Mow Ching (Chair) and 

Elizabeth Sipiere, four residents namely, Aleksandra 
Morshed, Darren Coan, Michelle Richards and Kobirul 
Islam and two independents, Glyn Kyle, and Peter 
Brooks. The Committee meets at least four times per 
year.

Development Committee

This Committee oversees the Group’s development of 
new homes and explores and oversees new business 
streams or initiatives, outside the core Association 
housing rental and care service businesses. It also 
reviews the Group’s growth and investment strategies 
in relation to the manufacture of modular housing and 
monitors the performance of the Group’s modular 
factory. The Committee comprises up to five members, 
two from the main Board namely Steve Akeju (Chair) 
and Simon Harden, up to three independents, namely 
Ralph Luck and Simon Hardwick. It meets at least four 
times per year.

Declarations of Interest

All Board and Committee members are required to 
declare any interests annually and otherwise at 
meetings where potential issues may arise. Individuals 
with a relevant interest are required to leave the 
meeting, unless requested otherwise by the Board/
Committee membership, and in any event do not vote 
on the issue concerned. A Conflicts of Interest Policy is 
in place and reviewed on a regular basis. 

Board Remuneration

The Board has determined, following independent 
advice and benchmarking, that it is appropriate, and 
continues to be appropriate, that Board members 
should be paid for their time and dedication. Committee 
members who are not Board members also receive 
fees for their services. The annual fees paid to Board 
members in position during the year are set out below. 
In addition, Board members are reimbursed for any 
expenses incurred in carrying out their duties and in 
attending Board or Committee meetings. The 
remuneration of those Board members who are also 
Executive Directors is shown in note 5 to the financial 
statements.

Report of the Board (cont)
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Non-Executive Board Members: £

Valerie Owen (Chair) 22,500

Peter Baynham (Vice Chair) 14,500 

Sheila Lewis (retired 31/12/18) 8,062

Marie Li Mow Ching 12,250

Sukhvinder Kaur-Stubbs (retired  31/12/18) 8,062 

Steve Akeju 12,250

Simon Harden 10,750

Elizabeth Sipiere (appointed as Co-optee 11/09/18) 6,002

Devan Bala (appointed as Co-optee 11/09/18) 6,002

Non-Executive Board Members Total 100,378 

Committee Members who are not Board Members: £

Glyn Kyle 5,375

Peter Brooks 5,375

Darren Coan 5,375

Michelle Richards 5,375

Gideon Amos (retired 18/06/18) 1,666

Ralph Luck 5,375

Doug McCann 5,375

Aleksandra Morshed 5,375

Simon Hardwick                                                                                                                                       5,375

Kobirul Islam                                                                                                             5,375

Hugh Titcomb 5,375

Committee Members Total 55,416 

Non-Executive Board and Committee Members Total £155,794 
      

The total amount paid above represents 0.2% (2018: 0.1%) of the Group annual turnover.
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Board’s statement on the annual review of the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control systems

The Board has continued to place emphasis on the 
Regulator of Social Housing's (RSH) Regulatory 
Framework which has applied since April 2015. Various 
reports received by the Board provide it with assurance 
that the three Economic and four Consumer standards 
laid out in the Framework are met. Further work has 
been undertaken on stress testing our business plan 
during the year to provide assurance that key risks are 
being appropriately managed. The Group’s G1/V2 
Governance and Financial Viability ratings from the 
Social Housing Regulator were reconfirmed in December 
2018.

Going Concern

The Board has a reasonable expectation that the Group 
has adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future and for this reason 
has continued to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the Group financial statements (refer to note 2 
of the financial statements for further comment).

Statement of Compliance

In accordance with the requirements of the Accounting 
Direction for private registered providers of social 
housing (2015), the Board certify that Swan Housing 
Association Limited has complied with the RSH's 
Governance and Financial Viability standard, and 
continues to explore ways to streamline and improve the 
means by which it receives assurance, including for 
example by the introduction of a centralised compliance 
calendar covering the many recurring legal, regulatory 
and other reporting obligations of the Group.

In preparing the Strategic Report and this Report of the 
Board, the Board has followed the principles set out in 
the Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting for 
registered social housing providers (‘SORP 2014’).

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility, 
applicable to all organisations within the Group, for 
establishing and maintaining the whole system of 
internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. 

The system of internal control is designed to manage, 
rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve 
business objectives, and to provide reasonable 
assurance against material misstatement or loss. 

The process for identifying, evaluating and managing 
the significant risks faced by the Group is ongoing, has 
been in place throughout the period commencing 1 April 
2018 up to the date of approval of the report and 
financial statements.

Key elements of the control framework include:

• Board approved terms of reference and delegated 
authorities for Board committees;

• clearly defined management responsibilities for the 
identification, evaluation and control of significant 
risks;

• robust strategic and business planning processes, 
with detailed financial budgets and forecasts;

• formal recruitment, retention, training and 
development policies for all staff;

• established authorisation and appraisal procedures 
for significant new initiatives and commitments;

• a sophisticated approach to treasury management 
which is subject to review each year;

• regular reporting to the appropriate committee on 
key business objectives, targets and outcomes;

• Board approved whistleblowing, anti-bribery, 
anti-theft and corruption policies;

• Board approved anti-fraud policies, covering 
prevention, detection and reporting, together with 
recoverability of assets; and

• regular monitoring of loan covenants and 
requirements for new loan facilities.

The Group currently has various systems in place to 
record its assets and liabilities. The Group has 
undertaken further work on the asset and liabilities 
register during the year to fully integrate the register into 
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its processes and systems so that it is kept up to date 
and becomes part of the way it works.  The Group’s 
internal auditors, RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP, 
have reviewed the register providing further assurance 
to the Board.

Audit and Risk Committee

The Board has a designated Group Audit and Risk 
Committee. The meetings are attended by the Deputy 
Chief Executive, Senior Finance Staff and other 
Directors, Board or Committee members as required.

This Committee is responsible for reviewing the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s systems of 
internal controls and reporting its conclusions to the 
Board, receiving reports from both the internal and 
external auditors. 

Internal Audit Function

The Group purchases an internal audit service. This 
work has been carried out in accordance with the 
Institute of Internal Auditors’ Standards and Guidance.

The internal auditor reports annually to the Group Audit 
and Risk Committee on the system of internal controls, 
with an opinion as to the adequacy and effectiveness of 
key internal control systems. The internal auditor 
attends the Group Audit and Risk Committee to present 
reports and to report on management progress in 
implementing agreed recommendations.  

The internal audit is planned, based on the results of a 
risk based Audit Needs Assessment. A rolling 
programme is undertaken to cover the whole of the 
Group’s system of control.

External Audit

The work of the external auditor has been conducted in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing 
(UK) and their audit opinion is contained within these 
financial statements. 

Any material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in 
internal controls identified during the course of the audit 

are reported to the Group’s Audit and Risk Committee 
and an action plan to address the weakness is agreed. 
No serious control weaknesses have been identified 
during the year.

Auditor

The auditor, Grant Thornton UK LLP, will be deemed to 
be re-appointed in accordance with section 93 of the 
Co-Operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 
2014.

Health and Safety 

The health and safety of our staff and residents 
continues to be of paramount importance. Staff 
completion of mandatory courses around health and 
safety, regular meetings of our cross group health and 
safety committee and our executive level health and 
safety committee chaired by the Chief Executive 
together with the use of the award winning Safety Bank 
software have all continued to support a culture of 
health and safety across the Group. The Board review 
health and safety at every meeting and receive a formal 
update report every six months that considers matters 
such as accidents and incidents, fire safety and 
servicing compliance. 

In the prior year, following the Grenfell Fire, and in 
addition to the various fire safety measures already in 
place, the Group undertook a review of the fire safety 
measures on all properties over 5 storeys. The Group 
continues to have in place various measures to 
reassure residents and we have followed all of the 
advice issued by the Ministry of Housing, Communities 
& Local Government. Two of our developments have 
limited amounts of Aluminium Composite Material 
(ACM). The Group is working with the contractors who 
installed the cladding on a programme to remove and 
replace the materials and we anticipate starting on-site 
this coming financial year. A net £3.4m provision (2018: 
£3.2m) has been taken for future work which is 
expected to commence this financial year. See note 20 
for further details. 
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Equality and Diversity

The Group remains a signatory to the Chartered 
Institute of Housing’s 10 ‘Leading Diversity by 2020’ 
challenges. In June 2016, the Housing Diversity 
Network (HDN) awarded us with their Diversity Network 
Accreditation for excellence in equality and diversity 
with 5 distinctions for good practice including:

• diverse leadership with high awareness and 
demonstrable commitment to equality and diversity 
from the Board, Executive and senior managers 
with a proactive approach to emerging issues;

• Board diversity; and

• inclusive and positive organisational culture, where 
staff are engaged and feel supported and valued.

As at March 2019:

• 38% of our Board and Executive Team and 58% of 
our total workforce are women.

• 31% of our Board and Executive Team and 23% of 
our total workforce are BAME (Black / Asian / 
Minority Ethnic).

• the age profile of our total workforce shows 54% 
were aged 25 to 44, with 39% aged 45 and over 
and 7% under 25.

• the age profile of the Board and Executive team 
showed 69% aged 45 to 64, 23% over 65 and 8% 
aged 25 to 44.

Post balance sheet event

On 23 May 2019 the Board approved a change to 
Swan’s Rules to update them in line with the latest 
National Housing Federation’s Model Rules. The main 
substantive changes relate to a reduction in the quorum 
required from 5 to 3 Board members and a reduction in 
the maximum Board size from 15 to 10.  The revised 
Rules were adopted by the FCA effective from 1 July 
2019.
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Statement of Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for preparing the report and 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law 
and regulations.

Co-Operative and Community Benefit Society 
legislation requires the Board to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year. Under that law the 
Board have elected to prepare the financial statements 
in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards and applicable laws, including FRS102, “The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland”). Under the Co-Operative and 
Community Benefit Society legislation the Board must 
not approve the financial statements unless they are 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state 
of affairs and surplus or deficit of the Association and 
Group for that period. In preparing these financial 
statements, the Board are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply 
them consistently;

• make judgments and accounting estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent;

• state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards 
and the Statement of Recommended Practice 
(SORP) Accounting by Registered Housing 
Providers 2014, have been followed, subject to any 
material departures disclosed and explained in the 
financial statements; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going 
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the Group and Association will continue in 
business.

The Board is responsible for keeping proper accounting 
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any 
time the financial position of the Group and Association 
and enable it to ensure that the financial statements 
comply with the Co-Operative and Community Benefit 
Societies Act 2014, the Housing and Regeneration Act 
2008 and the Accounting Direction for Private 
Registered Providers of Social Housing (April 2015). It 
is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the 
Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities.

The Board is responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the corporate and financial information 
included on the Group’s websites. Legislation in the 
United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.

In so far as each of the Board members is aware:

• there is no relevant audit information of which the 
Group’s auditor is unaware; and

• the Board members have taken all steps that they 
ought to have taken to make themselves aware of 
any relevant audit information and to establish that 
the auditor is aware of that information.

Approved by the Board on 11 July 2019 and signed on 
its behalf by:

John Synnuck 
Chief Executive
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Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Swan 
Housing Association Limited (the ‘Parent Society’) and 
its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) for the year ended 31 
March 2019, which comprise the Consolidated and 
Association Statements of Comprehensive Income, the 
Consolidated and Association Statements of Changes 
in Reserves, the Consolidated and Association 
Statements of Financial Position, the Consolidated 
Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable 
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards 
including Financial Reporting Standard 102; The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion, the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s 
and Parent Society’s affairs as at 31 March 2019 
and of the Group’s and Parent Society’s income 
and expenditure for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with 
the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies 
Act 2014, the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008, 
and the Accounting Direction for Private Registered 
Providers of Social Housing 2015.

Basis for opinion

We have been appointed as auditor under the Co-
operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 
and report in accordance with regulations made under 
that Act. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) 
and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ 
section of our report. We are independent of the Parent 
Society in accordance with the ethical requirements that 
are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in 
the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we 

have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to 
report to you where:

• the Board’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements is not appropriate; or

• the Board has not disclosed in the financial 
statements any identified material uncertainties that 
may cast significant doubt about the Group’s or 
Parent Society’s ability to continue to adopt the 
going concern basis of accounting for a period of at 
least twelve months from the date when the 
financial statements are authorised for issue.

Other information

The Board is responsible for the other information. The 
other information comprises the information included in 
the Annual Report, set out on pages 4 to 63, other than 
the financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does 
not cover the other information and, except to the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. In 
connection with our audit of the financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent 
material misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial 
statements or a material misstatement of the other 
information. If, based on the work we have performed, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this other information, we are required to report that 
fact.

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members 
of Swan Housing Association Limited
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We have nothing to report in this regard.

Matters on which we are required to report by 
exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters where the Co-operative and Community Benefit 
Societies Act 2014 requires us to report to you if, in our 
opinion:

• a satisfactory system of control over transactions 
has not been maintained; or

• the Parent Society has not kept proper accounting 
records;

• the financial statements are not in agreement with 
the books of account; or

• we have not received all the information and 
explanations we need for our audit.

Responsibilities of the Board for the financial 
statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Board’s 
Responsibilities, set out on page 63, the Board is 
responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true 
and fair view, and for such internal control as the board 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board is 
responsible for assessing the Group’s and Parent 
Society’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the Board either intend to liquidate 
the Group or Parent Society or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements is located on the Financial 
Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of 
our auditor’s report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Parent Society’s 
members, as a body, in accordance with regulations 
made under Sections 87 and 98(7) of the Co-operative 
and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014. Our audit 
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
Parent Society’s members those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for 
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, 
we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the Parent Society and the Parent Society’s 
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, 
or for the opinions we have formed.

    

Grant Thornton UK LLP 
Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants 
Cambridge, England 
27 August 2019



66

Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income

Notes 2019 2018

£’000 £’000

Turnover 3 81,128 91,118

Operating costs 3 (58,829) (65,836)

Operating surplus 3 22,299 25,282

Share of loss from joint venture 15 (5) (2)

Surplus on sale of fixed assets (non-operational) 7 3,096 825

Interest receivable 8 1,904 587

Interest payable and similar charges 9 (15,405) (16,007)

Movement in fair value of financial instruments 19 (2,128) 4,956

Surplus on ordinary activities before taxation 10 9,761 15,641

Tax charge on surplus on ordinary activities 11 (805) (1,136)

Surplus on ordinary activities after taxation 8,956 14,505

Actuarial loss in respect of defined benefit pension obligation 28 (1,092) -

Re-measurement of SHPS obligation 28 (2,183) -

Total comprehensive income for the year 5,681 14,505
      

The consolidated results relate wholly to continuing activities.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 11 July 2019 and 
signed on its behalf by:

Co-operative and Community Benefit Society Company Number: 28496R

Valerie Owen, Chair John Synnuck, Chief Executive Sue McBride, Company Secretary
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Association Statement of 
Comprehensive Income

Notes 2019 2018

£’000 £’000

Turnover 3 79,985 75,609

Operating costs 3 (52,691) (50,319)

Operating surplus 3 27,294 25,290

Surplus on sale of fixed assets (non-operational) 7 3,096 825

Interest receivable 8 2,114 1,455

Interest payable and similar charges 9 (17,208) (17,257)

Movement in fair value of financial instruments 19 (2,128) 4,956

Surplus on ordinary activities before taxation 10 13,168 15,269

Tax charge on surplus on ordinary activities 11 - -

Surplus on ordinary activities after taxation 13,168 15,269

Actuarial loss in respect of defined benefit pension obligation 28 (1,092) -

Re-measurement of SHPS obligation 28 (2,183) -

Total comprehensive income for the year 9,893 15,269
      

The Association’s results relate wholly to continuing activities.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 11 July 2019 and 
signed on its behalf by:

Co-operative and Community Benefit Society Company Number: 28496R

Valerie Owen, Chair John Synnuck, Chief Executive Sue McBride, Company Secretary
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Consolidated Statement of 
Changes in Reserves

Share capital Income and 
expenditure 

reserve  

Revaluation 
reserve

Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance as at 1 April 2017 - 41,612 170,068 211,680

Total comprehensive income for the year - 14,505 - 14,505

Tax relieved by gift aid payment from 2017 
profits 

Transfer from revaluation reserve to income 
and expenditure reserve

-

-

906 

2,151

-
 
 

(2,151)

906
 
 
-

Balance as at 31 March 2018 - 59,174 167,917 227,091

Total comprehensive income for the year - 5,681 - 5,681

Tax relieved by gift aid payment from 2018 
profits 

Transfer from revaluation reserve to income 
and expenditure reserve

-

-

1,048

2,126

-

(2,126)

1,048

-

Balance as at 31 March 2019 - 68,029 165,791 233,820
      
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Share capital Income and 
expenditure 

reserve  

Revaluation 
reserve

Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance as at 1 April 2017 - 43,210 170,068 213,278

Total comprehensive income for the year - 15,269 - 15,269

Transfer from revaluation reserve to income 
and expenditure reserve

- 2,151 (2,151) -

Balance as at 31 March 2018 - 60,630 167,917 228,547

Total comprehensive income for the year - 9,893 - 9,893

Transfer from revaluation reserve to income 
and expenditure reserve

- 2,126 (2,126) -

Balance as at 31 March 2019 - 72,649 165,791 238,440
      
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Association Statement of 
Changes in Reserves
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Notes 2019 2018

£’000 £’000

Fixed Assets

Intangible assets 12 2,051 1,250

Tangible fixed assets – housing properties 13 741,191 720,776

Other tangible fixed assets 14 6,946 6,979

Investment in joint venture 15 19,926 14,987

770,114 743,992

Current Assets

Stock and properties held for sale 16 196,584 107,081

Debtors due within one year 17a 7,171 7,670

Debtors due after one year 17b 29,103 30,287

Cash at bank and in hand 29,432 13,678

262,290 158,716

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 18 (82,595) (47,223)

Net current assets 179,695 111,493

Total assets less current liabilities 949,809 855,485

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 19 (703,741) (625,194)

Provision for Liabilities

Defined benefit pension liability 28 (6,948) -

Other provisions 20 (5,300) (3,200)

Total net assets 233,820 227,091

Capital and reserves

Share capital 21 - -

Income and expenditure reserve 21 68,029 59,174

Revaluation reserve 21 165,791 167,917

Total capital and reserves 233,820 227,091
      

Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 11 July 2019 and 
signed on its behalf by:

Co-operative and Community Benefit Society Company Number: 28496R

Valerie Owen, Chair John Synnuck, Chief Executive Sue McBride, Company Secretary



Swan Housing Association Limited | Year ended: 31 March 2019 71

Association Statement of 
Financial Position

Notes 2019 2018

£’000 £’000

Fixed Assets

Intangible fixed assets 12 1,469 616

Tangible fixed assets – housing properties 13 747,030 726,296

Other tangible fixed assets 14 4,890 4,730

Investments 15 65,012 33,011

818,401 764,653

Current Assets

Properties held for sale 16 22,466 17,775

Debtors due within one year 17a 9,640 14,084

Debtors due after one year 17b 27,731 28,904

Cash at bank and in hand 28,035 9,577

87,872 70,340

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 18 (21,992) (25,636)

Net current assets 65,880 44,704

Total assets less current liabilities 884,281 809,357

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 19 (633,593) (577,610)

Provision for Liabilities

Defined benefit pension liability 28 (6,948) -

Other provisions 20 (5,300) (3,200)

Total net assets 238,440 228,547

Capital and reserves

Share capital 21 - -

Income and expenditure reserve 21 72,649 60,630

Revaluation reserve 21 165,791 167,917

Total capital and reserves 238,440 228,547
      

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 11 July 2019 and 
signed on its behalf by:

Valerie Owen, Chair John Synnuck, Chief Executive Sue McBride, Company Secretary
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Notes 2019 2018

£’000 £’000

Cash flow from operating activities

Net cash generated from operating activities A (41,599) 12,236

Corporation tax paid - (227)

(41,599) 12,009

Cash flow from investing activities

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (31,885) (41,658)

Purchase of other tangible fixed assets (1,059) -

Purchase of intangible fixed assets (881) (616)

Proceeds from sale of tangible fixed assets 6,433 4,034

Investment in joint venture - (9,996)

Subsequent loans to joint venture (3,150) (4,532)

Grants received 59,465 350

Interest received 76 112

28,999 (52,306)

Cash flow from financing activities

Interest paid (21,567) (19,339)

New secured loans received 52,121 38,210

Loan issue costs paid (432) -

Repayments of borrowings (1,768) (2,242)

28,354 16,629

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 15,754 (23,668)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 13,678 37,346

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 29,432 13,678
      

Consolidated Statement of 
Cash Flows
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2019 2018

£’000 £’000

Surplus for the year 8,956 14,505

Add back non-cash items:

Depreciation 8,265 7,794

Amortisation 114 70

Decrease / (increase) in debtors 1,717 (1,500)

Increase  in creditors 6,029 21,456

Increase in provision 2,100 3,200

Surplus on sale of housing assets (3,096) (825)

Pension costs less contribution payable (856) -

Share of loss from joint venture 5 2

Interest payable 15,405 16,007

Interest receivable (1,904) (587)

Tax charge 805 1,136

Movement in fair value of financial instruments 2,128 (4,956)

Movement in stock and properties for sale (81,267) (44,066)

Cash (used in) / generated from operations (41,599) 12,236
      

Note A to the Consolidated Statement of 
Cash Flows
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1. Legal Status

Swan Housing Association Limited is registered under 
the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 
2014 and is a registered provider of social housing.

2. Principal Accounting Policies

Basis of accounting

The financial statements of the Group and Association 
have been prepared in accordance with UK Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice (‘UK GAAP’) including 
Financial Reporting Standard 102 (‘FRS102’) and the 
Statement of Recommended Practice for Registered 
Social Landlords 2014 (‘Housing SORP’) and comply 
with the Accounting Direction for Private Registered 
Providers of Social Housing 2015.

Swan Housing Association Limited participates in a  
multi-employer defined benefit scheme, the Social 
Housing Pension Scheme (‘SHPS’). For the year ended 
31 March 2019, the Group and Association is now able 
to identify its share of the scheme assets and scheme 
liabilities from 1 April 2018 and therefore has adopted 
the May 2019 amendments to FRS102 Section 28 and 
applied defined benefit accounting from this date 
onwards. For accounting purposes, the relevant date for 
accounting for this change from defined contribution to 
defined benefit accounting is 1 April 2018. For the year 
ended 31 March 2018 the scheme was being accounted 
for as a defined contribution scheme as there was not 
sufficient information available to identify each 
employer’s share of assets and liabilities in the scheme. 
Therefore, for the year ended 31 March 2018, the 
contributions payable for the Association to SHPS 
under the terms of its funding agreement for past 
deficits was recognised as a liability within creditors in 
the Association’s financial statements.

The financial statements are presented in sterling and 
rounded to the nearest thousand (£’000). 

Disclosure exemptions

The individual accounts of Swan Housing Association 
Limited have adopted the following disclosure 
exemptions:

(a)    The requirement to present a statement of cash 
flows and related notes as it is the parent of the 
Swan Housing Group which prepares publicly 
available consolidated financial statements and the 
Company is included in the consolidation;

(b)   Financial instrument disclosures, including the 
categories of financial instrument; items of income, 
expense, gains or losses relating to financial 
instruments and exposure to and management of 
financial risks; and

(c)   From disclosing the Association’s key management 
personnel compensation.

Going concern

The Group’s business activities, its current financial 
position and factors likely to affect its future 
development are set out within the Strategic Report 
(including a summary of the key risks).  The Group has 
long term debt facilities which provide adequate 
resources to finance committed regeneration and 
development projects, along with the Group’s day to 
day operations.  The Group also has a long-term 
business plan which shows that it is able to service 
these debt facilities whilst continuing to comply with 
lenders’ covenants. The long-term business plan has 
been considered in the context of the Group’s plans to 
address risks should they crystallise (including but not 
limited to those set out in the Strategic Report). 

On this basis, the Board has a reasonable expectation 
that the Group has adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future, being a 
period of at least twelve months after the date on which 
the report and financial statements are signed.  For this 
reason it continues to adopt the going concern basis in 
the financial statements.

Significant judgements and estimates 

The preparation of financial statements requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that impact the amounts reported for 
assets and liabilities at the Statement of Financial 
Position date and the amounts reported for revenues 
and expenses during the year. However, the nature of 
estimates means that actual outcomes could differ from 
those estimates.

Notes to the Financial Statements



Swan Housing Association Limited | Year ended: 31 March 2019 75

The following are the significant management 
judgements made in applying policies of the Group that 
have the most significant effect on the financial 
statements.

Financial instrument classification

The Group’s loans are required to be classified as either 
basic or non-basic financial instruments in accordance 
with the conditions set out under FRS102 section 11.9.

Management has concluded that two of the Group’s 
loans should be reported as non-basic.  Both include an 
embedded mandatory swap payment on termination of 
the loan which results in the return to the lender being a 
combination of a positive fixed rate and a negative 
variable rate (as part of the notional swap value) which 
is not permitted by FRS102 11.9a (iv).

The Group’s remaining loans each contain a 
prepayment option which may result in a compensation 
payment from the lender. Management has assessed 
this prepayment option against the condition set out in 
FRS102 11.9b which states that for a loan to be 
classified as basic there should be no contractual 
provision that results in the holder losing the principal 
amount or any interest attributable to current or prior 
periods.  Management has concluded that the loans are 
basic on the basis that the repayment relates to future 
interest payments and not the repayment of the 
principal amount or interest that is due. 

Estimation uncertainty

Information about estimates and assumptions that have 
the most significant effect on recognition and 
measurement of assets, liability, income and expenses 
is provided below. Actual results may be substantially 
different.

Provision for replacement of cladding containing 
Aluminum Composite Material (ACM)

During the year ended 31 March 2018 management 
concluded that a constructive obligation existed to 
complete works to replace the cladding on two schemes 
containing a limited amount of ACM owned by the 
Group. As a result a provision for a total liability of 
£3.2m was recognised in the prior year.  

During the year ended 31 March 2019 management 
has obtained firmer cost estimates for both schemes, 
agreed a settlement with a third party in respect of one 
of the schemes and secured grant funding of £1.9m 
towards elements for both schemes. As a result of 
these developments a net liability of £3.4m, a £0.2m 
increase from the prior year, has been recognised as at 
31 March 2019 (see note 20).

The absence of agreement with respect to one of the 
affected buildings concerning the nature and scope of 
work gives rise to a level of uncertainty in determining 
the upper range of cost that may be incurred.  
Consequently, allowance has been made at 31 March 
2019 for the known scope of work to be undertaken 
which may be reliably estimated. The upper range of 
cost that might be incurred is materially higher and may 
be the subject of formal dispute resolution or litigation 
proceedings.  In this context further information is not 
disclosed on the grounds of commercial sensitivity. 

The Association and Group intend to pursue all 
available options to recover the cost of work undertaken 
and hope to manage the final cost to a more favourable 
position than currently reflected in the consolidated 
financial statements.  The outcome of such actions are 
inherently uncertain.  

Useful lives of depreciable assets

Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of 
depreciable assets at each reporting date based on the 
expected utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these 
estimates may relate to technological obsolescence and 
changes to decent home standards which may require 
more frequent replacement of key components.

Defined Benefit obligation

Management’s estimate of the defined benefit obligation 
is based on a number of critical underlying assumptions 
such as standard rates of inflation, mortality, discount 
rate and anticipation of future salary increases. 
Variation in these assumptions may significantly impact 
the liability and the annual defined benefit expenses (as 
analysed in note 28). The net defined benefit pension 
liability at 31 March 2019 was £6,948k.
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Stock and properties held for sale

Stock and properties held for sale are carried at the 
lower of cost or net realisable value. Management 
assesses the net realisable value of schemes using 
publicly available information and internal forecasts on 
future sales prices after allowing for all further costs of 
completion and disposal.

Fair value measurement

Management utilises the services of a specialist 
treasury advisor to calculate the fair value of its financial 
instruments. Fair value measurements were applied to 
two loans in the year. The valuation techniques include 
discounted cash flow pricing models with observable 
inputs. The most significant inputs into those models 
are interest rate yield curves, developed from publicly 
quoted rates and market available information.  

All valuations have been compared to similar market 
transactions or alternative third-party pricing services to 
ensure current market conditions are properly 
represented. The fair value of the two non-basic 
financial instruments as at 31 March 2019 was £123.4m 
(2018: £121.3m). 

Movements in fair value between periods are 
exclusively due to changes in observable inputs, which 
can shift due to changes in demand and supply in 
public market rates and market information, and due to 
time factor in the above instruments’ pricing in a 
discounted cash flow pricing model.

Recoverability of trade receivables 

Management exercise judgement relating to the 
recoverability of outstanding rental and other trade 
receivables. A review is performed regularly to assess 
whether each individual receivable is recoverable.

Group structure and basis of consolidation

Swan Housing Association Limited Group (the ‘Group’) 
came into existence in 1994. The Group is required by 
the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 
2014 to prepare consolidated accounts. The Group 
financial statements incorporate the financial 

statements of the Parent, Swan Housing Association 
Limited, and its subsidiaries. 

The results of businesses acquired or disposed of in the 
year are consolidated from or up to the effective date of 
acquisition or disposal retrospectively. The net assets of 
businesses acquired are incorporated in the 
consolidated accounts at their fair values at the date of 
acquisition. Transactions and balances between Group 
companies are eliminated.

The Group acquired a 49.9% interest in Purfleet Centre 
Regeneration Limited in October 2017. This interest 
results in a jointly controlled entity which is accounted 
for using the equity method of accounting. Under this 
method the equity investment is initially recognised at 
the transaction price and is subsequently adjusted to 
reflect the Group’s share of the profit or loss in the 
jointly controlled entity. The acquisition generated 
goodwill of £0.3m.

Turnover

Turnover comprises rental income receivable in the 
year, income from shared ownership first tranche sales, 
sales of properties built for sale, income for care and 
support services, unitary charge income from a private 
finance initiative and other services included at the 
contracted or invoiced value (excluding VAT 
chargeable) of goods and services supplied in the year 
and grants receivable in the year.

Rental income is recognised from the point when 
properties under development reach practical 
completion or otherwise become available for letting, 
net of any voids. Income from first tranche sales and 
sales of properties built for sale is recognised at the 
point of legal completion of the sale. Income from land 
sales is recognised on the unconditional exchange of 
contracts. Income for care and support services are 
recognised when the rewards and benefits associated 
with the services provided are transferred, where the 
amount can be estimated reliably and when the amount 
is recoverable. Unitary charge income is recognised in 
accordance with the financial close model which 
apportions the income between the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income for housing management 
services and the Statement of Financial Position for 

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont)
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income accrued during the construction phase of the 
contract.

Donations received under the gift aid scheme in Swan 
Housing Association Limited from its subsidiaries are 
recognised as turnover upon receipt as it relates to the 
principal activities of the Association and is eliminated 
on consolidation.

Interest

Interest is recognised as income when receivable.  
Interest payable is accrued daily and recognised as an 
expense. Interest on the net borrowing of the Group as 
a whole is capitalised to the extent that the borrowing 
relates to development costs less capital grants 
received in relation to incomplete properties under 
construction or refurbishment. 

Taxation  

Current tax is recognised for the amount of corporation 
tax payable in respect of the taxable surplus for the 
current or past reporting periods using the rates and 
laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted at 
the reporting date.  As a result of the Association’s 
status as a charity, the Association is largely exempt 
from corporation tax.  The Association’s subsidiaries are 
subject to corporation tax but may make gift aid 
donations to the Association which reduces their 
liabilities to corporation tax. Such donations, if made 
within nine months of the end of an accounting period, 
may be used to reduce the corporation tax payable in 
respect of the profits of that period. The benefit of this 
relief is not recognised in these financial statements. 

Deferred Taxation

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing 
differences at the reporting date, except as indicated.  
Deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that they will be recovered against the 
reversal of deferred tax liabilities or future taxable 
profits.

Deferred tax is calculated using the rates and laws 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date 
that are expected to apply to the reversal of the timing 

difference. Deferred tax liabilities are presented in 
provisions for liabilities and deferred tax assets in 
debtors. Such assets and liabilities are only offset 
where the Group has a legal right of set off and relate to 
the same tax authority and taxable entities.

VAT

The Association and the majority of its subsidiaries are 
included in a Group VAT registration in the name of 
Swan Housing Association Limited. The majority of the 
Association’s income, being rents, is exempt for VAT 
purposes, but other Group members generate taxable 
income. This combination gives rise to a partial 
exemption calculation. Expenditure for non-taxable 
activities is therefore shown inclusive of VAT and the 
input VAT recovered is credited against operating costs.  
Expenditure on taxable activities is shown exclusive of 
VAT. The balance of VAT payable or recoverable at the 
year-end is included as a current liability or asset.

Intangible assets

Computer software is carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses. Costs relating to 
the development of computer software for internal use 
are capitalised. Costs include the total cost of external 
products or services and any labour costs directly 
attributable to the development.

Amortisation is charged on a straight line basis over the 
expected useful life of the software. The expected 
useful life is considered to be four years.

Goodwill

Goodwill is the difference between the cost of an 
acquired entity or business over the aggregate of the 
fair value of that entity’s identifiable assets and 
liabilities. Positive goodwill is shown on the Statement 
of Financial Position as an asset and is amortised 
evenly over its estimated useful economic life.  In 
addition to systematic amortisation, the book value is 
written down to recoverable amount when any 
impairment is identified.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (cont)

Investments in subsidiaries   

Investments in subsidiaries represent amounts 
subscribed as share capital to, or on-lent by, the 
Association to its subsidiaries under the Group’s 
internal financing arrangements and are stated at cost 
less impairment in the Association’s financial 
statements.

Investments in jointly controlled entities (joint 
ventures)  

An entity is treated as jointly controlled where the Group 
is party to an agreement with one or more parties from 
outside the Group to undertake an economic activity 
that is subject to joint control. In the consolidated 
accounts, interests in jointly controlled entities are 
accounted for using the equity method.

Loans due from a jointly controlled entity are included in 
investments where the amounts are intended for use on 
a continuing basis in the jointly controlled entities 
activities. The loans are subsequently accounted for as 
basic financial instrument.

Investments in jointly controlled entities are stated at 
cost less impairment in the Association’s financial 
statements.

Impairment

The Group continuously reviews the performance of its 
assets and management monitors the operating 
environment for triggers of impairment such as, but not 
limited to, increasing void losses and changes in 
government policy. As at 31 March 2019 management 
assessed whether there were any impairments triggers 
and concluded there were none.

Where there is evidence of impairment, the intangible 
and tangible fixed assets are written down to their 
recoverable amount and any impairment losses are 
charged to operating expenditure.

The recoverable amounts of the Association’s housing 
properties are estimated as follows:

(a)  Determine the level at which a recoverable amount 
is to be assessed, the cash generating unit (CGU) 

level is determined to be an individual scheme;

(b) Estimate the recoverable amount of the CGU;

(c) Calculate the carrying amount of the CGU, and   

(d)  Compare the carrying amount to the recoverable 
amount to determine if an impairment has occurred.

Based on this assessment, a Depreciated Replacement 
Cost (DRC) is calculated using appropriate construction 
costs and land prices. Where the DRC is less than the 
carrying amount, an impairment is taken to reduce the 
carrying amount to the DRC.

Housing properties cost and depreciation

Completed general needs and supported housing 
properties are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes the 
cost of acquiring land and buildings, development 
on-costs and interest charges incurred during the 
development period.

Works to existing properties which replace a component 
that has been treated separately for depreciation 
purposes, along with works that result in an increase in 
net rental income over the lives of the properties, 
thereby enhancing the economic benefits of the assets, 
are capitalised as improvements. The existing 
components are derecognised through the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

The Group depreciates the major components of its 
general needs and supported housing properties on a 
straight line basis, at the following annual rates:

• Structure   0.80%
• Bathrooms   3.33%
• Kitchens   5.00%
• Electrics   3.33%
• Boilers   6.66%
• Windows   3.33%
• Central Heating  2.50% 

Freehold land is not depreciated.

Expenditure on shared ownership properties is split 



Swan Housing Association Limited | Year ended: 31 March 2019 79

proportionally between current and fixed assets based 
on the element relating to expected first tranche sales.  
The first tranche proportion is classed as a current 
asset and the related sales proceeds are included in 
turnover.  The remaining element is classed as a fixed 
asset and included in housing properties at cost, less 
accumulated depreciation on a straight line basis over 
the life of the structure and impairment losses. 

Completed NHS keyworker and properties held under 
finance leases are stated at cost less depreciation 
which is charged on a straight line basis over the lease 
term.

Housing properties under construction are stated at 
cost and are transferred to completed properties once 
they are available for letting. No depreciation is 
provided on housing properties under construction.

For other tangible fixed assets, depreciation is charged 
on a straight line basis over the expected economic 
useful lives of the assets at the following annual rates:

• Freehold offices   0.8% on cost
• Leasehold improvements  20% on cost
• Plant and machinery  20% on cost
• Office equipment and fittings 20% on cost
• Computer equipment  25% on cost

Development on-costs

Costs associated with development projects are 
capitalised where they are directly attributable to 
bringing the properties into working condition for their 
intended use. Such costs generally include professional 
fees, directly attributable staff salary costs incurred in 
administering the development programme and loan 
interest attributable to the scheme. Costs incurred on 
schemes which are identified as abortive are written off 
in the year in which the scheme is classified as 
abortive.

Lease obligations 

Where assets are financed by leasing arrangements 
which transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership, they are classified as finance leases and are 
treated as if they had been purchased outright. The 

amount capitalised is the present value of the minimum 
lease payment during the term of the lease. The 
corresponding leasing commitments are shown as 
obligations to the lessor. Rentals paid under operating 
leases (including those paid under temporary social 
housing leases) are charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income on a straight line basis over the 
lease term.

Stock

Inventories primarily represent the costs of ongoing 
design and build works and is stated at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value. Net realisable value is 
assessed by considering the expected total costs to 
complete. The costs of design and build works includes 
the costs of the manufacture, off-site, of modular 
housing units. The raw materials utilised in this process 
are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. 

Otherwise the cost of design and build works, modular 
housing units or owned land developed for sale is 
determined on the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. Cost 
includes the purchase price, including taxes and duties 
and transport and handling directly attributable to 
bringing the inventory to its present location and 
condition.   

At each balance sheet date inventory is assessed for 
impairment. If inventories are impaired, the carrying 
value is reduced to its recoverable value less the costs 
to completion. The impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. 

Properties for sale   

Shared ownership first tranche sales, completed 
properties for outright sale and property under 
construction are valued at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. Cost comprises materials, direct labour 
and direct development overheads. Net realisable value 
is based on estimated sales price after allowing for all 
further costs of completion and disposal.

Work in progress consists of land and build costs 
incurred on current developments. This is held at the 
lower of cost or estimated selling price less costs to 
complete and sell.
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Debtors

Short term debtors are measured at transaction price 
less any impairment. A full provision is made against 
former tenant arrears and a phased percentage 
provision is made against current tenant balances with 
a maximum of 75% for balances outstanding for more 
than 20 weeks.

Equity Loans

Equity loans are initially recognised at their fair value. 
The loans are subsequently updated to reflect imputed 
interest and are reviewed for impairment with any 
adjustments being recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. The Group shares in any 
future capital gain or loss realised by the homeowner on 
the related property since the loan amount repayable is 
tied to the property value.

Creditors

Short term creditors are measured at the transaction 
price.

Government grants 

Government grants include grants receivable from 
Homes England, local authorities and other government 
organisations. Government capital grants received prior 
to the transition to FRS102 have been accounted for 
under the performance method and recognised as 
income. Capital grants for housing properties received 
post transition are accounted for under the accruals 
method within creditors and recognised in income over 
the useful life of the property structure.

Social Housing and other capital development grants 
may be repayable under certain circumstances, 
primarily following the sale of a property. Provision for 
repayment in the Recycled Capital Grant Fund is made 
in the Statement of Financial Position when properties 
which have previously received grant funding are sold.

Grants relating to revenue are recognised as income 
over the same period as the expenditure to which they 
relate once reasonable assurance has been gained that 
any conditions associated with the grant have been 
met.

Pensions

Swan Housing Association Limited participates in a  
multi-employer defined benefit scheme, the Social 
Housing Pension Scheme (SHPS), which the 
Association has closed to new entrants. In the previous 
year it had not been possible to identify the share of 
underlying assets and liabilities belonging to individual 
participating employers, therefore the scheme was 
accounted for as a defined contribution scheme.  For 
the year ended 31 March 2018 the Association had 
recognised a past service deficit liability of £4,369k with 
creditors, based on the present value of the 
Association’s deficit funding agreement.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Association is 
able to identify its share of the scheme assets and 
scheme liabilities from 1 April 2018 and therefore has 
applied defined benefit accounting from this date 
onwards. For accounting purposes, the relevant date for 
accounting for this change from defined contribution to 
defined benefit accounting is 1 April 2018. The scheme 
assets are measured at fair value. Scheme liabilities are 
measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit 
credit method and are discounted at appropriate high 
quality corporate bonds.

The deficit funding agreement liability that was 
previously recognised within creditors of £4,369k was 
derecognised on the 1 April 2018 and an initial net 
defined benefit pension liability of £6,552k was 
recognised at this date in the Statement of Financial 
Position. The resulting net difference of £2,183k on 
initial recognition of the SHPS obligation was 
recognised in Other Comprehensive Income.

At the year ended 31 March 2019, the net defined 
benefit pension deficit liability was £6,948k, which has 
been included within the provisions for pension liabilities 
in the Statement of Financial Position.

In the year ended 31 March 2019, the current service 
costs and costs from settlements and curtailments are 
charged against operating surplus in the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. Interest is 
calculated on the net defined benefit liability. 
Remeasurements are reported in Other Comprehensive 
Income. Note 28 contains further details.

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont)
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Swan Housing Association Limited, Swan New Homes 
Limited, Vivo Support Limited and Hera Management 
Services Limited currently operate defined contribution 
benefit schemes for active members. The charge to 
expenditure represents the employer contribution 
payable to the schemes for the accounting period.

Financial instruments

Financial instruments which meet the criteria of a basic 
financial instrument as defined in Section 11 of FRS102 
are accounted for under an amortised cost model.  The 
effective interest rate method, which applies the interest 
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash 
flows to the carrying amount of the financial instrument 
at initial recognition, has been used to calculate 
amortised cost. Any related fees and transaction costs 
are also amortised using this method.

Loan modifications are assessed on a case by case 
basis and where modifications are deemed to be 
substantial the instrument is derecognised. Where 
modifications are considered to be non-substantial they 
are accounted for in accordance with Section 11 of 
FRS102. 

Non basic financial instruments are recognised at fair 
value using a valuation technique with any gains or 
losses being reported in surplus or deficit. At each year 
end the instruments are revalued to fair value with the 
movements posted to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income.

The Group and Association have not adopted hedge 
accounting for financial instruments.

Loan issue costs

Costs in relation to the issuance of basic debt 
instruments are amortised over the life of the 
instrument. Costs in relation to non-basic debt 
instruments are expensed as incurred. The discount/
premium arising on bond issues are spread evenly over 
the remaining life of the bond, with a resulting 
movement in finance costs each year. 

Provision for liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a 
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that the Group will be required 
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best 
estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the end of the reporting period, 
taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation.

The Group recognises a provision for annual leave 
accrued by employees as a result of services rendered 
in the current period, and which employees are entitled 
to carry forward and use in the next accounting period.  
The provision is measured at the average salary cost 
payable for the period of absence. 

The Group has also recognised a provision to fund the 
replacement of a proportion of the cladding on two 
schemes which contains Aluminium Composite 
Material.

Reserves

The Group establishes reserves for specific purposes 
where their use is subject to external restrictions and 
designated reserved where reserves are earmarked for 
a particular purpose.

Revaluation reserves

On transition to FRS102 the revaluation reserve was 
credited with the difference between the fair value of 
housing properties and the historical cost carrying 
value. As a result, housing properties carried at 
revaluation pre-transition are carried at deemed cost. 

The depreciation charges and disposal costs relating to 
housing properties carried at deemed cost therefore 
contain an element of cost that is attributable to 
revaluation. Annual transfers between the income and 
expenditure and revaluation reserves are made to 
reconcile the reserve accounts.
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GROUP 2019 2018

Turnover 

£’000

Operating 
Costs 

£’000

Surplus/
(deficit) 

£’000

Turnover 

£’000

Operating 
Costs 

£’000

Surplus/
(deficit) 

£’000

Income and 
expenditure: 

From social housing 
lettings (note 4)

61,504 (32,593) 28,911 59,477 (33,081) 26,396

Other social 
housing activities:

Supporting people 
contract income

2,031 (2,582) (551) 1,621 (2,058) (437)

Group management 
services

- (7,843) (7,843) - (6,896) (6,896)

First tranche shared 
ownership sales

132 (106) 26 1,711 (1,291) 420

Forest Gate private 
finance initiative 

8,411 (6,829) 1,582 7,178 (5,916) 1,262

Other 259 (548) (289) 116 (140) (24)

10,833 (17,908) (7,075) 10,626 (16,301) (5,675)

Total social 
housing activities

72,337 (50,501) 21,836 70,103 (49,382) 20,721

Activities other 
than social 
housing:

Development 
activities

8,791 (8,328) 463 21,015 (16,454) 4,561

Total 81,128 (58,829) 22,299 91,118 (65,836) 25,282
      

3. Turnover, operating costs and operating surplus by class of business

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont)
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ASSOCIATION 2019 2018

Turnover 

£’000

Operating 
Costs 

£’000

Surplus/
(deficit) 

£’000

Turnover 

£’000

Operating 
Costs 

£’000

Surplus/
(deficit) 

£’000

Income and 
expenditure: 

From social housing 
lettings (note 4)

61,504 (32,593) 28,911 59,477 (33,081) 26,396

Other social 
housing activities:

Supporting people 
contract income

2,031 (2,582) (551) 1,621 (2,058) (437)

Group management 
services

1,640 (9,483) (7,843) 500 (7,396) (6,896)

First tranche shared 
ownership sales

132 (106) 26 1,711 (1,291) 420

Forest Gate private 
finance initiative 

8,411 (6,829) 1,582 7,178 (5,916) 1,262

Other 6,267 (1,098) 5,169 5,122 (577) 4,545

18,481 (20,098) (1,617) 16,132 (17,238) (1,106)

Total social 
housing activities

79,985 (52,691) 27,294 75,609 (50,319) 25,290

Activities other 
than social 
housing:

Development 
activities

- - - - - -

Total 79,985 (52,691) 27,294 75,609 (50,319) 25,290
      

Note: Other income includes £5,458k (2018: £4,530k) of donations received under the 
gift aid scheme from Group companies.

3. Turnover, operating costs and operating surplus by class of business
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GROUP General 
Needs 

Housing  

NHS Trust 
Keyworker 

Shared 
Ownership

Total  
2019 

Total  
2018

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Rent receivable net of identifiable 
service charges

43,362 6,150 1,894 51,406 51,688

Amortised government grant 528 - - 528 515

Other grant 1,943 - - 1,943 -

Service income 6,509 - 282 6,791 6,469

Net rental income 52,342 6,150 2,176 60,668 58,672

Lease income 836 - - 836 805

Turnover from social housing 
lettings

53,178 6,150 2,176 61,504 59,477

Management (10,236) (1,689) (379) (12,304) (11,588)

Services (2,943) (339) (104) (3,386) (3,329)

Routine maintenance (3,452) (397) (122) (3,971) (4,243)

Planned maintenance (4,948) (569) (175) (5,692) (6,257)

Bad debts (69) 2 - (67) (255)

Depreciation of housing properties (5,204) (1,708) (261) (7,173) (7,409)

Operating costs on social 
housing lettings

(26,852) (4,700) (1,041) (32,593) (33,081)

Operating surplus on social 
housing lettings

26,326 1,450 1,135 28,911 26,396

Void losses        (365)           (962)                -       (1,327)       (1,303)
      

4. Particulars of income and expenditure from lettings

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont)
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ASSOCIATION General 
Needs 

Housing  

NHS Trust 
Keyworker 

Shared 
Ownership

Total  
2019 

Total  
2018

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Rent receivable net of identifiable 
service charges

43,362 6,150 1,894 51,406 51,688

Amortised government grant 528 - - 528 515

Other grant 1,943 - - 1,943 -

Service income 6,509 - 282 6,791 6,469

Net rental income 52,342 6,150 2,176 60,668 58,672

Lease income 836 - - 836 805

Turnover from social housing 
lettings

53,178 6,150 2,176 61,504 59,477

Management (10,236) (1,689) (379) (12,304) (11,588)

Services (2,943) (339) (104) (3,386) (3,329)

Routine maintenance (3,452) (397) (122) (3,971) (4,243)

Planned maintenance (4,948) (569) (175) (5,692) (6,257)

Bad debts (69) 2 - (67) (255)

Depreciation of housing properties (5,204) (1,708) (261) (7,173) (7,409)

Operating costs on social 
housing lettings

(26,852) (4,700) (1,041) (32,593) (33,081)

Operating surplus on social 
housing lettings

26,326 1,450 1,135 28,911 26,396

Void losses        (365)           (962)                -       (1,327)       (1,303)
      

4. Particulars of income and expenditure from lettings
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6. Staff numbers and costs

The average numbers of persons employed by the 
Group expressed both in full-time equivalents and 
numbers of staff members (including senior executives 
but excluding Board Members), analysed by category, 
were as follows:

The aggregate payroll cost of these persons was as 
follows:

The pension cost includes £nil (2018: £nil) increase in 
the provision for past deficit contributions. During the 
year a total of £30k (2018: £117k) was paid in relation 
to severance and redundancy costs, which are included 
in wages and salaries above. In addition, a total of 
£100k (2018: £77k) was paid to Non-Executive Board 
members and is included in wages and salaries above, 
see page 59 for further details.

Group Group  

2019 
FTEs 

2019 
No.

2018 
FTEs 

2018 
No.

Administration 
staff

317 344 263 288

Maintenance 4 4 4 4

Caretakers, 
cleaners and 
wardens

104 129 82 113

425 477 349 405
      

5. Key management personnel

The aggregate amount of Executive Director 
remuneration, who are considered to be the Group’s 
key management personnel, for the year was £1,173k 
excluding pension contributions and taxable benefits 
(2018: £977k). Directors’ pension contributions for the 
year were £33k (2018: £41k). Directors' social security 
costs for the year were £137k (2018: £128k). Directors' 
benefits in kind for the year were £9k (2018: £8k).

Remuneration of the highest paid senior executive 
(Chief Executive) was £257k.  In addition a payment in 
lieu of pension contributions of £18k was paid in the 
year. Social security costs were £37k.

Parent Non-Executive Board and Committee Members 
received remuneration of £156k (2018: £140k).  Social 
security costs were £5k (2018: £4k). Total expenses 
reimbursed to Board and Committee Members were 
£3k (2018: £3k).

During the year £nil (2018: £nil) was paid in 
compensation for loss of office to key management 
personnel.

Group 

2019 
£’000 

2018 
£’000

Wages and salaries 18,305 15,253

Social security costs 1,922 1,539

Other pension costs 415 393

20,642 17,185
      

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont)
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The full-time equivalents number including Executive 
Directors who receive remuneration:

2019 2018

£60,001 to £70,000 18 12

£70,001 to £80,000 16 8

£80,001 to £90,000 5 8

£90,001 to £100,000 6 5

£100,001 to £110,000 7 4

£110,001 to £120,000 2 1

£120,001 to £130,000 1 2

£130,001 to £140,000 2

£140,001 to £150,000 2 3

£150,001 to £160,000 1 1

£160,001 to £170,000 2

£170,001 to £180,000

£180,001 to £190,000

£190,001 to £200,000 1

£200,001 to £210,000 2

£210,001 to £220,000 1

£220,001 to £230,000 1

£230,001 to £240,000

£240,001 to £250,000

£250,001 to £260,000 1

£260,001 to £270,000

£270,001 to £280,000 1
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Group Association  

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

2019 
£’000 

2018 
£’000

Interest receivable from joint venture 1,828 475 - -

Bank interest receivable 76 112 39 67

Interest from other group undertakings - - 2,075 1,388

1,904 587 2,114 1,455
      

7. Surplus on sale of fixed assets (non-operational)

Group Association  

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

2019 
£’000 

2018 
£’000

Disposal proceeds 6,188 4,034 6,188 4,034

Carrying value of fixed assets sold (3,092) (3,209) (3,092) (3,209)

3,096 825 3,096 825
      

Included in the amounts above for both the Group and the Association are surpluses on the sale of housing 
properties of £3,096k (2018: £510k). These gains include the sale of assets connected with the provision of NHS 
Keyworker accommodation. Whilst a valued part of the Group’s activities this activity is not considered to be a 
principal activity. The gain on disposal is consequently excluded from the calculation of operating surplus and the 
cash realised will be reinvested in the Group’s wider activities in due course. The carrying value of housing assets 
sold includes recycled capital grant as detailed in note 19.

8. Interest receivable

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont)
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9. Interest payable and similar charges

Group Association  

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

2019 
£’000 

2018 
£’000

Bank loans 11,152 10,011 11,152 10,011

GLA & HCAi loans 2,100 906 - -

Bond 7,640 7,640 - -

Interest on intra-group lending - - 7,640 7,640

Net interest expense from defined benefit pension 
obligation

160 - 160 -

Unwinding of discount on pension deficit - 163 - 163

Other bank charges 483 485 467 474

Finance lease charges 280 270 280 270

21,815 19,475 19,699 18,558

Less: Interest capitalised (6,410) (3,468) (2,491) (1,301)

15,405 16,007 17,208 17,257
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Group Association  

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

2019 
£’000 

2018 
£’000

The surplus on ordinary activities before taxation for 
the year is stated after charging/(crediting):

Auditor’s remuneration

-  Fees payable to the Association's auditor 
for the financial statement audit

62 62 62 62

-  Fees payable to the Association's auditor 
for the audit of the financial statements of 
its subsidiaries

42 42 42 42

- Other assurance services 30 32 30 32

Depreciation on  housing properties 7,173 7,076 7,173 7,076

Depreciation on other tangible fixed assets 1,092 385 613 340

Amortisation on other intangible fixed assets 28 - 28 -

Operating surplus Forest Gate PFI (1,582) (1,262) (1,582) (1,262)

Operating lease charges 1,003 974 436 413

Group service fees receivable from other Group 
undertakings (note 27)

- - (1,640) (500)

Amortisation of goodwill 86 68 - -
      

10. Surplus on ordinary activities before taxation

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont)



Swan Housing Association Limited | Year ended: 31 March 2019 91

Group Association  

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

2019 
£’000 

2018 
£’000

Current tax:

UK corporation tax on surplus for the year 839 1,136 - -

Deferred taxation – origination and reversal of timing 
differences

(34) - - -

Tax charge on surplus on ordinary activities 805 1,136 - -

Tax reconciliation to total tax charge:

Surplus on ordinary activities before tax 9,761 15,641 13,168 15,269

Surplus on ordinary activities multiplied by standard 
rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2018: 19%)

1,855 2,972 2,502 2,901

Tax losses, previously not recognised, now utilised (12) (2) - -

Charitable tax exemption (1,004) (1,834) (2,502) (2,901)

Deferred taxation, previously not recognised, now 
recognised 

(34) - - -

Total tax charge for year 805 1,136 - -
      

11. Tax charge on surplus on ordinary activities

Group Association  

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

2019 
£’000 

2018 
£’000

Tax credits in Statement of Changes in Reserves:

Tax previously provided on profits, released 
following payment of gift aid

1,048 906 - -
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Deferred taxation

The Association is and intends to remain a charity and as such it is not subject to corporation tax (or deferred tax) on 
its profits provided its resources are utilised for charitable purposes. Hence taxation provided above relates entirely to 
the operations of subsidiaries of the Association and, by way of example, no deferred tax asset is available to be 
recognised in respect of matters such as the Association’s pension funding liability.

A deferred tax asset of £34k relating to tax losses carried forward for an unrestricted time period and capital allowances 
has been recognised at 31 March 2019 since following two years of profitable operation the Directors now expect the 
related subsidiary undertaking to generate future profits capable of offset by the losses and capital allowances. A 
deferred tax asset of £42k was unrecognised at 31 March 2018 in relation to these timing differences. 

Deferred tax assets of £31k (2018: £31k) relating to other tax losses of £170k (2018: £170k) and capital allowances 
have not been recognised since, although the Board expect the respective subsidiary undertaking which generated 
these timing differences to generate future taxable profits capable of offset by them, they do not consider that the 
standards required for recognition have yet been met.

The movement in the year and the deferred tax asset recognised at the reporting date can be analysed as follows:

Movement in the year: £’000

Deferred tax asset at 1 April 2018 -

Credit to Statement of Comprehensive Income 34

Deferred tax asset at 31 March 2019 34

Categorisation of deferred tax asset/(liability):

Recognised 
(included with Debtors)

Unrecognised

2019 2018 2019 2018

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Tax losses carried forward 32 - 29 68

Depreciation in advance of capital allowances 2 - 2 5

34 - 31 73
      
Factors impacting future taxes

The UK Government has announced that the rate of UK corporation tax will reduce to 17% with effect from 1 April 
2020. Consequently, unprovided deferred tax assets are stated at that rate. Of the deferred tax asset recognised, 
£27k is expected to reverse in the coming year with the balance reversing the following year. The amount recognised 
is stated at a blended tax rate based upon the expected timing of the reversal.

The Group has wholly owned subsidiaries that were formed in the expectation that their profits would be donated to 
the Association under the gift aid scheme. Such donations if made within nine months of the end of an accounting 
period may be used to reduce the corporation tax payable in respect of the profits of that period. No provision for 
such a donation out of the 2019 profits has been included in these accounts since no obligation to make that 
payment exists, but the Directors expect that such a donation will be made within nine months of 31 March 2019 and 
the corporation tax provided above will be correspondingly reduced.

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont)
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Movement in the year: £’000

Deferred tax asset at 1 April 2018 -

Credit to Statement of Comprehensive Income 34

Deferred tax asset at 31 March 2019 34

Categorisation of deferred tax asset/(liability):

Recognised 
(included with Debtors)

Unrecognised

2019 2018 2019 2018

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Tax losses carried forward 32 - 29 68

Depreciation in advance of capital allowances 2 - 2 5

34 - 31 73
      

Group Software 
£’000

Goodwill 
£’000

Total 
£’000

Cost:

At 1 April 2018 616 1,056 1,672

Additions 881 - 881

At 31 March 2019 1,497 1,056 2,553

Amortisation:

At 1 April 2018 - (422) (422)

Charge for the year (28) (52) (80)

At 31 March 2019 (28) (474) (502)

Net Book Value:

At 31 March 2019 1,469 582 2,051

At 31 March 2018 616 634 1,250
      

12. Intangible fixed assets

Included in software above in both the Group and Association is £1,357k (2018: £616k) in relation to software in the 
course of construction as at 31 March 2019.

Association Software 
£’000

Cost:

At 1 April 2018 616

Additions 881

At 31 March 2019 1,497

Amortisation:

At 1 April 2018 -

Charge for the year (28)

At 31 March 2019 (28)

Net Book Value:

At 31 March 2019 1,469

At 31 March 2018 616
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13. Tangible fixed assets – housing properties

Housing properties: 
GROUP 

General/
special 
needs

Completed 
shared 

ownership 
housing 

properties

Completed 
NHS 

Keyworker 

Properties 
held under 

finance 
leases

Under 
construction 

Total  

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost:

At 1 April 2018 595,862 53,119 64,520 2,842 46,500 762,843

Additions 4,295 - 447 29 29,605 34,376

Disposals (806) (1,473) (752) (5) - (3,036)

Completions 6,055 - - - (6,055) -

Transfers to  work in 
progress

- - - - (4,317) (4,317)

At 31 March 2019 605,406 51,646 64,215 2,866 65,733 789,866

Depreciation:

At 1 April 2018 (20,000) (971) (18,608) (2,488) - (42,067)

Disposals 160 28 375 2 - 565

Charge for the year (5,173) (261) (1,708) (31) - (7,173)

At 31 March 2019 (25,013) (1,204) (19,941) (2,517) - (48,675)

Net book value:

At 31 March 2019 580,393 50,442 44,274 349 65,733 741,191

At 31 March 2018 575,862 52,148 45,912 354 46,500 720,776
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Housing properties: 
ASSOCIATION 

General/
special 
needs

Completed 
shared 

ownership 
housing 

properties

Completed 
NHS 

Keyworker 

Properties 
held under 

finance 
leases

Under 
construction 

Total  

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost:

At 1 April 2018 595,862 53,119 64,520 2,842 52,020 768,363

Additions 4,295 - 447 29 29,924 34,695

Disposals (806) (1,473) (752) (5) - (3,036)

Completions 6,055 - - - (6,055) -

Transfer to work in 
progress

- - - - (4,317) (4,317)

At 31 March 2019 605,406 51,646 64,215 2,866 71,572 795,705

Depreciation:

At 1 April 2018 (20,000) (971) (18,608) (2,488) - (42,067)

Disposals 160 28 375 2 - 565

Charge for the year (5,173) (261) (1,708) (31) - (7,173)

At 31 March 2019 (25,013) (1,204) (19,941) (2,517) - (48,675)

Net book value:

At 31 March 2019 580,393 50,442 44,274 349 71,572 747,030

At 31 March 2018 575,862 52,148 45,912 354 52,020 726,296
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Housing properties

Included within additions are development administration costs of the Group: £260k, Association: £260k (2018: 
Group: £365k, Association: £365k) and interest capitalised by the Group: £2,491k, Association: £2,491k (2018: 
Group: £1,301k Association: £1,301k).  The interest capitalisation was calculated using the Group’s average cost of 
floating rate borrowing each month.  The average rate during the year was 4.11% (2018: 4.09%).

The maintenance and repair expenditure, excluding the £3.4m provision (2018: £3.2m) to replace ACM on two 
schemes, on housing properties was for the Group: £10.7m, Association £10.7m (2018: Group: £10.1m, Association: 
£10.1m). £4.8m of this expenditure is capitalised (2018: £4.7m) for both Group and Association.

The £4.3m (2018: £5.8m) transfer to work in progress includes movements to reflect changes in the tenure mix on 
development schemes under construction as well as additions and completions during the year.

All completed housing stock of the Group and Association was restated at deemed cost on transition for FRS102 
based on a formal valuation undertaken by Savills, Chartered Surveyors. The deemed cost was based on the 
Existing Use Value for Social Housing (EUV-SH) for accounts purposes as at 31 March 2014.

Completed NHS Keyworker properties are carried at cost less depreciation.

During the current year the Group and Association did not make any impairment charges (2018: £nil). 
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GROUP Freehold 
offices 

Leasehold 
improve-

ment

Plant and 
machinery 

Computer 
equipment

Office 
equipment 

and fittings

Total  

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost: 

At 1 April 2018 3,427 672 1,433 4,742 2,776 13,050

Additions - 7 266 518 268 1,059

Disposals - - - (3,824) (1,617) (5,441)

At 31 March 2019 3,427 678 1,699 1,437 1,427 8,668

Depreciation:

At 1 April 2018 (189) (34) - (3,957) (1,891) (6,071)

Charge for the year (69) (134) (302) (305) (282) (1,092)

Disposals - - - 3,824 1,617 5,441

At 31 March 2019 (258) (168) (302) (438) (556) (1,722)

Net Book Value:

At 31 March 2019 3,169 510 1,397 999 871 6,946

At 31 March 2018 3,238 638 1,433 785 885 6,979

      

14. Other tangible fixed assets 
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ASSOCIATION Freehold 
offices

Computer 
equipment

Office 
equipment 

and fittings

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost: 

At 1 April 2018 3,427 4,645 2,628 10,700

Additions - 507 266 773

Disposals - (3,824) (1,617) (5,441)

At 31 March 2019 3,427 1,328 1,277 6,032

Depreciation:

At 1 April 2018 (188) (3,898) (1,884) (5,970)

Charge for the year 
Disposal 

(69)
-

(292) 
3,824

(252) 
1,617

(613) 
5,441

At 31 March 2019 (257) (366) (519) (1,142)

Net Book Value:

At 31 March 2019 3,170 962 758 4,890

At 31 March 2018 3,239 747 744 4,730
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15. Investments 

GROUP 

Investment in jointly controlled entity 

Equity share in 
joint venture 

Loans to joint 
venture 

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

Cost and Net Book Value:

At 1 April 2018 5,560 9,427 14,987

Loan advances and capitalised loan interest - 4,978 4,978

Amortisation of goodwill (34) - (34)

Share of loss (5) - (5)

At 31 March 2019 5,521 14,405 19,926
      

Management reviewed the carrying value of the 
investment in the jointly controlled entity as at 31 March 
2019 and no triggers for impairment were identified.

The Group has an agreement to provide a junior loan 
facility of £4.5m and a £18.1m revolving credit facility to 
Purfleet Centre Regeneration Limited (PCRL). As at 31 
March 2019, the junior loan facility was fully drawn and  
£7.2m of the revolving credit facility was drawn. A 
further £0.9m of interest has been capitalised on the 
junior facility and £0.9m capitalised on the revolving 
credit facility during the year.

The revolving credit and junior loan facilities both 
accrue interest at 14.0579% and are repayable at the 
end of phase 1 of the development or 31 December 
2022, whichever is earlier. The loans are secured by a 
floating charge over the assets of PCRL.

Additionally, the Group will be providing construction 
and certain other administrative services to PCRL. 

Goodwill is being amortised over the Directors’ estimate 
of its useful life of nine years, which is the expected 
duration of the regeneration project being undertaken 
by the joint venture.

GROUP 

Goodwill in joint venture 

 

£’000

Cost:

At 1 April 2018 303

Additions -

At 31 March 2019 303

Amortisation:

At 1 April 2018 (14)

Charge for the year  (34)

At 31 March 2019 (48) 

Net Book Value:

At 31 March 2019 255

At 31 March 2018 289
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Joint venture net assets before shareholder loans as at 31 March:

2019 2018

£’000 £’000

Current assets 20,624 15,917

Liabilities due within one year (141) (852)

Liabilities due after one year - -

Net Assets 20,483 15,065
      

ASSOCIATION Shares in 
subsidiary 

undertakings 

Loans to 
subsidiary 

undertakings

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

Cost 

At 1 April 2018 12 32,999 33,011

Advances to Group companies - 32,001 32,001

At 31 March 2019 12 65,000 65,012
      

During the year ended 31 March 2019 net advances of £32,001k were made to Group companies. As at 31 March 
2019, all loans to subsidiary undertakings are not due for repayment within 12 months of the balance sheet date.
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Company Activity Country of incorporation

Purfleet Centre Regeneration 
Limited**

Property Development England and Wales

      

At 31 March 2019 the Group held 100% of the issued ordinary share capital of the following:

Company Activity Country of incorporation

Swan New Homes Limited Build of new homes England and Wales

Swan Commercial Services Limited Design and build contractor England and Wales

Hera Management Services 
Limited*

Property management England and Wales

Vivo Support Limited* Care and support services England and Wales

Swan Housing Capital Plc Treasury England and Wales

Swan Housing Finance Limited Treasury England and Wales
      

*Owned indirectly – 100% owned by Swan New Homes Limited

The jointly controlled entity is:

** 49.9% owned by Swan New Homes Limited

All of the Group’s subsidiaries and the jointly controlled entity’s registered office is Pilgrim House, High Street, 
Billericay, Essex, England, CM12 9XY.

On 1 April 2019, the Association acquired for £1 a dormant company from a subsidiary company and renamed it 
Swan BQ Limited. Swan BQ Limited will be the Group’s 50% partner in a corporate partnership Porters Place 
Southend LLP (incorporated on 23 April 2019) with Southend-on-Sea Borough Council as the other 50% partner, to 
regenerate the Queensway area of Southend, Essex.
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16. Stock and properties held for sale

Group Association  

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

2019 
£’000 

2018 
£’000

Stock

Raw materials and consumables 633 444 - -

Shared ownership properties

Work in progress 22,466 17,775 22,466 17,775

Properties developed for outright sale

Completed properties - 671 - -

Work in progress 173,485 88,191 - -

196,584 107,081 22,466 17,775
      

During the year the Group and Association expensed as cost of sale costs related to properties held for sale and 
work in progress amounting to £8,297k (2018: £16,347k) and £106k (2018: £1,291k) respectively.
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17. Debtors

Group Association  

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

2019 
£’000 

2018 
£’000

a) Due within one year

Gross arrears of rent and service charges 1,191 1,267 1,191 1,267

Less: provision for bad and doubtful debts (637) (622) (637) (622)

Net arrears of rent and service charges 554 645 554 645

Amounts owed by Group undertakings - - 4,570 9,208

Other debtors 5,419 4,892 3,731 3,138

Prepayments and accrued income 1,164 2,133 785 1,093

Deferred tax asset (see note 11) 34 - - -

7,171 7,670 9,640 14,084

b) Due after one year

Other prepayments and accrued income – PFI 27,731 28,904 27,731 28,904

Equity retained in properties sold 1,372 1,383 - -

29,103 30,287 27,731 28,904
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18. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Group Association  

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

2019 
£’000 

2018 
£’000

Bank loan 520 520 520 520

GLA & HCAi loans 29,125 - - -

PFI loan 1,962 1,249 1,962 1,249

Trade creditors 14,591 13,052 3,234 1,177

Amounts owed to Group undertakings - - 685 7,214

Corporation tax payable 927 1,136 - -

Other taxation and social security 2,487 443 2,280 306

Other creditors 14,312 10,294 1,606 1,421

Deferred grant (see note 19) 534 528 534 528

Pension deficit liability - 856 - 856

Interest payable 2,403 2,367 1,861 1,824

Accruals and deferred income 15,734 16,778 9,310 10,541

82,595 47,223 21,992 25,636
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19. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Group Association  

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

2019 
£’000 

2018 
£’000

Bank loans (see analysis below) 317,341 317,694 317,341 317,694

Bond (see analysis below) 209,884 209,855 - -

GLA and HCAi loans (see analysis below) 57,480 34,916 - -

Amounts owed to Group undertakings - - 209,884 209,855

584,705 562,465 527,225 527,549

Finance leases 3,023 3,023 3,023 3,023

Recycled capital grant fund 4,023 3,264 4,023 3,264

Disposals proceeds fund 1,540 1,812 1,540 1,812

Deferred grant (see analysis below) 110,450 51,117 97,782 38,449

Pension deficit liability (see note 28) - 3,513 - 3,513

703,741 625,194 633,593 577,610

Loans and Bond due after 1 year

Housing loans 169,568 170,087 169,568 170,087

Financial instruments at fair value 123,389 121,261 123,389 121,261

PFI Loan 24,384 26,346 24,384 26,346

Bond 210,000 210,000 - -

Less: issue costs (1,789) (1,853) - -

Add: bond discount and premium 1,673 1,708 - -

Amounts owed to Group undertakings - - 209,884 209,855

GLA and HCAi loans 57,912 34,916 - -

Less: issue costs (432) - - -

584,705 562,465 527,225 527,549
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Loans and Bond maturity (excluding PFI, GLA and HCAi which are considered separately)

Group Association  

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

2019 
£’000 

2018 
£’000

Falling due less than one year 520 520 520 520

Falling due within one to two years 1,039 520 1,039 520

Falling due two to five years 51,138 3,504 51,138 3,504

Falling due after five years 389,891 438,563 389,775 438,418

442,588 443,107 442,472 442,962

Fair value adjustments for non basic financial 
instruments

60,889 58,761 60,889 58,761

503,477 501,868 503,361 501,723
      

The bank loans above are drawn from bi-lateral loan facilities of £279m. Bank loans are secured by charges on 
specific properties and floating charges over the Group’s assets and are repayable at variable and fixed rates of 
interest between 1.94% and 6.10%.  

On 5 March 2015 the Group issued a £250m bond with £100m retained and on 8 July 2016 £60m of the retained 
bonds were issued. The bond has coupon rate of 3.625%, matures in 2048 and has a remaining life of 29 years.  
Security for the bond has been provided in the form of housing assets. 

The original £150m bond was issued at discount of £1.6m in 2015. The £60m retained bond issued in July 2016 
generated a £3.3m premium on issue. The discount and the premium are being amortised over the remaining life of 
the bond using the effective average interest rate method.
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Group Association  

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

2019 
£’000 

2018 
£’000

PFI loan:

Falling due less than one year 1,962 1,249 1,962 1,249

Falling due within one to two years 1,983 1,962 1,983 1,962

Falling due two to five years 8,313 7,886 8,313 7,886

Falling due after five years 14,088 16,498 14,088 16,498

26,346 27,595 26,346 27,595

      
The PFI loan is provided by Royal Bank of Scotland plc and repayable in full by 2028.  Interest is payable at 6.21% 
per annum for the remainder of the facility.

Group Association  

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

2019 
£’000 

2018 
£’000

GLA and HCAi loans:

Falling due less than one year 29,125 - - -

Falling due within one to two years - 12,353 - -

Falling due two to five years - - - -

Falling due after five years 57,912 22,563 - -

87,037 34,916 - -
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The Group has two housing zone loans provided by the Greater London Authority. The first, with a facility limit of 
£29.1m, relates to the Group’s development at Cambridge Road, which was fully drawn at the end of the year. This 
facility carries interest at 3.29% per annum and is repayable on the earlier of receipts as they arise from the sale of 
development properties at Cambridge Road or 31 December 2019. 

The second facility, with a limit of £50m, relates to the Group’s development at Blackwall Reach, under which 
£47.7m was drawn at the end of the year. This facility carries interest at 4.0% per annum and is repayable on the 
earlier of receipts as they arise from the sale of development properties at Blackwall Reach or 31 December 2026. 
The two facilities are each secured by way of a fixed charge over the interest in the land at the related development 
site and by way of a floating charge over the assets of Swan New Homes Limited, a group undertaking.

The HCAi facility, with a limit of £30m, relates to the Group’s developments at Beechwood and Laindon, under which 
£10.2m was drawn near the end of the year. This facility carries interest at EC Base Rate plus a margin of 4%. It is 
repayable on the earlier of the disposal of the last Residential Unit at the last site or 30 June 2025. In addition to the 
interest in the land and work in progress at the related development sites, Swan New Homes Limited and Swan 
Commercial Services Limited, both group undertakings, are guarantors for the facility. Homes England also hold a 
share charge in respect of the entire issued share capital of Swan Housing Finance Limited and Swan Commercial 
Services Limited.

Group Association  

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

2019 
£’000 

2018 
£’000

Finance leases – falling due after five years 3,023 3,023 3,023 3,023
      

Finance leases represent the capital funding advanced under finance lease arrangements for a total of 35 
properties. These entail the funder purchasing the freehold of properties on the open market and leasing them to 
Swan Housing Association Limited for 25 years from 2001. At the end of the lease term Stratton Property Holdings 
Limited, who purchased the interest in these properties from Bradford and Bingley plc during the year, has a put 
option to sell the properties and Swan Housing Association Limited has a call option to purchase the properties at 
any time, both at historic cost, at which point the liability will be settled.
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Group Association  

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

2019 
£’000 

2018 
£’000

Analysis of Recycled Capital Grant Fund:

Balance at 1 April 3,264 3,949 3,264 3,949

Additions to the fund 739 757 739 757

Interest charges in the year 20 14 20 14

Utilised during the year - (1,456) - (1,456)

Balance at 31 March 4,023 3,264 4,023 3,264

      

Group Association  

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

2019 
£’000 

2018 
£’000

Analysis of Disposal Proceeds Fund:

Balance at 1 April 1,812 1,396 1,812 1,396

Additions to the fund 127 512 127 512

Interest charges in the year 3 7 3 7

Utilised during the year (402) (103) (402) (103)

Balance at 31 March 1,540 1,812 1,540 1,812

      

Group Association  

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

2019 
£’000 

2018 
£’000

Analysis of Deferred Grant:

Balance at 1 April 51,645 37,582 38,977 37,582

Grant additions during the year 59,867 14,578 59,867 1,910

Released to income during the year (528) (515) (528) (515)

Balance at 31 March 110,984 51,645 98,316 38,977

Amounts to be released within one year 534 528 534 528

Amounts to be released in more than one year 110,450 51,117 97,782 38,449

110,984 51,645 98,316 38,977
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Group Association  

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

2019 
£’000 

2018 
£’000

ACM Provision:

Balance at 1 April 3,200 - 3,200 -

Released in the year (1,175) - (1,175) -

Provision recognised in the year 3,275 3,200 3,275 3,200

Balance at 31 March 5,300 3,200 5,300 3,200
      

20. Provision for liabilities

During the year ended 31 March 2018 a provision of £3.2m was recognised in respect of expected costs to be incurred 
in ensuring the replacement of cladding on two schemes containing Aluminium Composite Material (‘ACM’). As at 31 
March 2018 the Association concluded that based upon the nature of communication with residents of the affected 
schemes that a constructive obligation to complete the works existed at that date. The quantum of the provision was 
determined by reference to initial estimates obtained to carry out the works. 

During the year ended 31 March 2019 the Association has sought to progress the matter in accordance with its 
commitments and responsibilities as a landlord. In doing so the following key points may be noted:

• Firmer cost estimates have been obtained.  In the context of increasing demand for remediation solutions the cost 
estimates have increased from those estimated at 31 March 2018 to reflect inflation, technical advice, mobilisation 
costs and temporary arrangements considered onerous in nature.

• A settlement has been agreed with a third party in respect of one of the schemes that, together with confirmed 
grant funding should enable work to commence in late 2019 on that scheme.

• Grant funding has been secured in respect of elements of the second scheme, but no agreement has been 
reached with relevant third parties concerning the nature and scope of work to be undertaken.

Confirmed grant funding amounts totaling £1.9m are included in other debtors (note 17). Taking such assets together 
with the above position results in a net liability of £3.4m at 31 March 2019.

The absence of agreement with respect to one of the affected schemes concerning the nature and scope of work gives 
rise to a level of uncertainty in determining the upper range of cost that may be incurred. Consequently, allowance has 
been made at 31 March 2019 for the known scope of work to be undertaken which may be reliably estimated. The 
upper range of cost that might be incurred is materially higher and may be the subject of formal dispute resolution or 
litigation proceedings.  In this context further information is not disclosed on the grounds of commercial sensitivity. 

Notwithstanding the delays being experienced on one of the schemes, the works to replace the cladding are expected 
to commence in the year ending 31 March 2020 at which point the scope and cost of the works will be finalised. 

The Association and Group intend to pursue all available options to recover the cost of work undertaken and hope to 
manage the final cost to a more favourable position than currently reflected in the consolidated financial statements.  
The outcome of such actions are inherently uncertain.  

Similarly the Association is mindful of the risks being identified in connection with other forms of cladding and 
construction techniques. At 31 March 2019 and to date there have been no legal or constructive commitments relating 
to the remediation of such issues. Consequently no provision has been made for such costs, although there remains a 
risk that additional cost liabilities may arise dependent upon future regulatory findings and changes.
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21. Share capital and reserves – Group and Association

The shares have limited rights. They carry no entitlement to a dividend, are not repayable and do not carry rights to 
participate in a winding up. They carry an entitlement to vote at the annual and special meetings of the Association. When 
shares are cancelled the amount paid up becomes the property of the Association.

Income and expenditure reserve

The income and expenditure reserve includes all current and prior year retained surpluses and losses.

Revaluation reserve

On transition to FRS102 the revaluation reserve was credited with the difference between the fair value of housing 
properties and the historical cost carrying value. As a result, housing properties carried at revaluation pre-transition are 
carried at deemed cost. 

Share Capital 2019 
£

2018 
£

Outstanding at 1 April 6 6

Allocated during the year 2 2

Cancelled during the year (2) (2)

Shares of £1 each allotted issued and fully paid at 31 March 6 6
      

            Group Association  

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

2019 
£’000 

2018 
£’000

Contracted but not provided 283,462 183,816 134,375 73,158
      

22. Commitments

i)  Capital Commitments at the end of the financial year for which no provision has been made:

             Group Association  

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

2019 
£’000 

2018 
£’000

Operating leases which expire:

Within one year 978 854 379 329

Between two and five years 3,282 3,210 1,128 1,112

Greater than five years 600 657 250 250

4,860 4,721 1,757 1,691
      

The Board considers that all expenditure will be financed through a combination of grants of £6.0m (2018: £9.0m), and 
sales income of £277.5m (2018: £174.8m).

ii)  future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases for equipment, motor vehicles and buildings are 
as follows:
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23. Contingent liabilities

Performance bonds

Swan Housing Association Limited has issued performance bonds in respect of highway and other works which are 
part of development schemes in Basildon and Havering for £797,000 and £499,000 respectively which may be 
retained by the local authorities in the event of works required under the construction programme not being 
completed. At present the Association is expecting to complete these works satisfactorily. The bonds expire at 
various dates, contingent upon pratical completion of the works.

The Group, through its subsidiary Swan Commercial Services Limited, has entered into a Deed of Guarantee and 
Indemnity with Thurrock Borough Council in relation to a regeneration project in Purfleet, Essex. As at 31 March 
2019 there were no material obligations under this guarantee. 

Social Housing and other capital development grants may be repayable under certain circumstances, primarily 
following the sale of a property.

As the representative member of a VAT group, the Association has joint and several liability for amounts owing to 
HMRC which at 31 March 2019 were £370k (2018: £576k).
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24. Analysis of completed property units

At 31 March 2019 the Group and Association housing stock comprised:

Group & Association  

Owned 
number of units 

Managed 
number of units 

2019 2018 2019 2018

Social housing:

General needs 6,524 6,529 - -

Affordable 302 279 - -

Shared ownership 586 598 - -

Sheltered (elderly) 79 79 - -

Other supported housing 415 415 - -

NHS keyworker accommodation 920 930 - -

London Borough of Newham - - 1,303 1,304

Total social housing 8,826 8,830 1,303 1,304

Non-social housing:

Garages 243 243 183 183

Sold to leaseholder with retained freehold 776 763 - -

Total housing stock 9,845 9,836 1,486 1,487
      

The total units owned and managed by the Group as at 31 March 2019 equates to 11,331 (2018: 11,323)
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25. Legislative provisions

The Association is registered under the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 with the reference 
28496R and with the Regulator of Social Housing under reference L4145 under the Housing and Regeneration Act 
2008 as a Registered Provider.

26. Related party disclosures

The Association has provided car purchase loans to one staff member £9k (2018: £10k).

The Association had the following activity with non-regulated entities in the Group;

• Swan New Homes Limited £(8,939)k net payment (2018: £(14,723)k net payment) land, property sales and fees, 
Swan Commercial Services Limited £(12,733)k net payment (2018: £(21,590)k net payment) construction 
activities and management fees which are recharged on an arm’s length basis using actual costs incurred and 
time allocations as appropriate. In addition Swan New Homes Limited and Swan Commercial Services Limited 
made net drawdowns of £(21,000)k and £(11,000)k respectively from their inter-company loan facilities with the 
Association.

• Hera Management Services Limited £(36)k net payment (2018: £(88)k net payment) property management 
services and Vivo Support Limited £(1,013)k net payment (2018: £(620)k net payment) care services both are 
recharged on an arm’s length basis using actual costs incurred.

In addition, the Group has advanced funding under a revolving credit facility of £7.2m (2018: £4.0m) to its joint 
venture, PCRL. At 31 March 2019 funding receivable, including interest accrued, from PCRL amounted to £14.4m 
(2018: £9.4m). Interest receivable in the year amounted to £1.8m (2018: £0.5m). Management fees charged to 
PCRL, which are included in turnover, amounted to £360k (2018: £150k).

27. Subsidiaries

Swan Housing Association Limited provides staff and other services to its subsidiaries under the terms of procedure 
agreements. Details of the amount charged to the subsidiaries within the Group are as follows: 

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

Amount charged:

Swan Commercial Services Limited 345 150

Swan New Homes Limited 1,267 350

Vivo Support Limited 14 -

Hera Management Services Limited 14 -

1,640 500
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28. Pensions 

SCHEME: TPT Retirement Solutions – Social Housing Pension Scheme (SHPS)

The Association participates in SHPS, a multi-employer scheme which provides benefits to non-associated 
participating employers. The scheme is a defined benefit pension scheme in the UK.  The scheme is classified as a 
'last-man standing arrangement'. Therefore, the Association is potentially liable for other participating employers' 
obligations if those employers are unable to meet their share of the scheme deficit following withdrawal from the 
scheme. Participating employers are legally required to meet their share of the scheme deficit on an annuity 
purchase basis on withdrawal from the scheme.

For the year ended 31 March 2018 the scheme was being accounted for as a defined contribution scheme as there 
was not sufficient information available to identify each employer’s share of assets and liabilities in the scheme. 
Therefore, for the year ended 31 March 2018, the contributions payable for the Association to SHPS under the terms 
of its funding agreement for past deficits was recognised as a liability within creditors in the Group’s and the 
Association’s financial statements. The net present value of £4,369k was recognised within creditors for this 
contractual obligation for the year ended 31 March 2018 being the committed deficit contributions discounted at a 
rate of 2.9% per annum.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, sufficient information is now available for the Association in respect of SHPS to 
account for its obligation on a defined benefit basis. The most recent formal actuarial valuation was completed as at 
30 September 2017 and rolled forward, allowing for the different financial assumptions required under FRS102, to 31 
March 2019 by a qualified independent actuary.

Under the defined benefit pension accounting approach, the SHPS net deficit as at 1 April 2018 is £6,552k and 
£6,948k as at 31 March 2019.

FRS 102 Section 28 requires the difference on transition from defined contribution to defined benefit accounting to 
be presented separately in other comprehensive income. The change of transition has resulted in a remeasurement 
difference of £2,183k, which has been recognised at the relevant date of application, 1 April 2018, in Other 
Comprehensive Income.

2019 
£’000

Past service defict liability as at 1 April 2018 derecognised 4,369

Net pension scheme deficit under defined benefit accounting as at 1 April 2018 (6,552)

Loss recognised in Other Comprehensive Income on initial recognition as a 1 April 2018 (2,183)
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2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

Fair value of plan assets 18,547 18,336

Present value of defined benefit obligation (25,495) (24,888)

Defined benefit liability to be recognised (6,948) (6,552)
      

PRESENT VALUES OF DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION, FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND DEFINED BENEFIT 
LIABILITY

RECONCILIATION OF OPENING AND CLOSING BALANCES OF THE DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION

2019 
£’000

Defined benefit obligation at the start of the year 24,888

Expenses 22

Interest expense 627

Actuarial (gains) due to scheme experience (383)

Actuarial losses due to changes in demographic assumptions 68

Actuarial losses due to changes in financial assumptions 1,845

Benefits paid and expenses (1,572)

Defined benefit obligation at the end of the year 25,495
      

RECONCILIATION OF OPENING AND CLOSING BALANCES OF THE FAIR VALUE OF PLAN ASSETS

2019 
£’000

Fair value of plan assets at the start of the year 18,336

Interest income 467

Experience on plan assets (excluding amounts included in interest income) – gain 438

Contributions by the employer 878

Benefits paid and expenses (1,572)

Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year 18,547
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DEFINED BENEFIT COSTS RECOGNISED IN STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (SOCI)

2019 
£’000

Expenses 22

Net interest 160

Defined benefit costs recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Income (SOCI) 182
      

DEFINED BENEFIT COSTS RECOGNISED IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

2019 
£’000

Experience on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest cost) - gain 438

Experience gains and losses arising on the plan liabilities - gain 383

Effects of changes in the demographic assumptions underlying the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation - loss

(68)

Effects of changes in the financial assumptions underlying the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation - (loss)

(1,845)

Total amount recognised in Other Comprehensive Income - (loss) (1,092)
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ASSETS

31 March 
2019 
£’000

1 April 
2018 
£’000

Global Equity 3,121 3,622

Absolute Return 1,605 2,240

Distressed Opportunities 337 177

Credit Relative Value 339 -

Alternative Risk Premia 1,070 695

Fund of Hedge Funds 84 604

Emerging Markets Debt 640 739

Risk Sharing 560 170

Insurance-Linked Securities 532 482

Property 417 844

Infrastructure 973 470

Private Debt 249 163

Corporate Bond Fund 865 753

Long Lease Property 273 -

Secured Income 664 680

Liability Driven Investment 6,782 6,680

Net Current Assets 36 17

Total assets 18,547 18,336
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KEY ASSUMPTIONS

31 March 
2019 

% per 
annum 

1 April 
2018 

% per 
annum

Discount Rate 2.38% 2.60%

Inflation (RPI) 3.23% 3.13%

Inflation (CPI) 2.23% 2.13%

Salary Growth 3.23% 3.13%

Allowance for commutation of pension for cash at retirement 75% of 
maximum 
allowance

75% of 
maximum 
allowance

      

The mortality assumptions adopted at 31 March 2019 imply the following life expectancies:

Life expectancy at 
aged 65 
(years )

Male retiring in 2019 21.8

Female retiring in 2019 23.5

Male retiring in 2039 23.2

Female retiring in 2039 24.7
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29. Financial assets and liabilities

Our treasury strategy is explained in the Strategic Report (see page 34). 

Financial assets

Other than short term debtors, financial assets held are investments in other entities and cash deposits placed on 
call. £1,126k (2018: £973k) of the cash balance relates to sinking funds. Financial assets are sterling denominated 
and the interest rate profile at 31 March was:

Group Association  

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

2019 
£’000 

2018 
£’000

Floating rate 43,837 23,105 93,047 42,588
      

The assets attract interest rates that vary with bank rates. 

Financial liabilities excluding trade creditors – interest rate risk profile

The Group’s financial liabilities are sterling denominated.  After taking into account various interest rate swaps, the 
interest rate profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 March was:

Group Association  

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

2019 
£’000 

2018 
£’000

Floating rate 80,286 70,607 70,088 70,607

Fixed 475,685 435,011 398,730 400,095

Total 555,971 505,618 468,818 470,702
      

The floating rate financial liabilities comprise bank loans that bear interest at rates based on the three-month LIBOR.

The fixed rate financial liabilities have a weighted average interest rate of 4.70% (2018: 4.63%) and the weighted 
average period for which it is fixed is 16 years (2018: 20 years). The reduction in the weighted average period is due 
to restructuring of loan facilities with Lloyds during the financial year.

The debt maturity profile is shown in note 19.
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Borrowing facilities

The Group has undrawn committed borrowing facilities. The facilities available at 31 March in respect of which all 
conditions precedent had been met were as follows:

Group Association  

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

2019 
£’000 

2018 
£’000

Expiring in less than 2 years 64,806 56,772 45,000 40,000

Expiring in more than 2 years 2,286 32,437 - 5,000
      

In addition to the above, the Group has £40m of retained bonds which are available for issue subject to the 
appropriate security being available. The retained bonds expire in 2020.
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Group Association

Book value Fair value Book value Fair value

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000 

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

Primary financial 
instruments held 
or issued to 
finance the 
Group’s 
operations

Current asset trade 
investments

43,837 23,105 43,837 23,105 93,047 42,588 93,047 42,588

Current portion of 
long term 
borrowing at 
amortised cost

31,607 1,769 31,673 1,817 2,482 1,769 2,548 1,817

Long term 
borrowings at fair 
value through 
statement of 
comprehensive 
income 

123,389 121,261 123,389 121,261 123,389 121,261 123,389 121,261

Long term 
borrowings at 
amortised cost

461,864 441,349 562,239 509,981 403,836 406,433 475,206 475,065

      

The fair value of long term borrowings includes the mark to market position of the embedded interest rate swaps. 
There is no requirement to post collateral against the out of the money mark to market positions.  

30. Post balance sheet event

On 23 May 2019 the Board approved a change to Swan’s Rules to update them in line with the latest National 
Housing Federation’s Model Rules. The main substantive changes relate to a reduction in the quorum required from 
5 to 3 Board members and a reduction in the maximum Board size from 15 to 10. The revised Rules were adopted 
by the FCA effective from 1 July 2019.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
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